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JOHN DONELLIAN, Esq

THE prifoner being placed at the bar, the clerk of

the arraigns read the following indi€tment:

WARWICKSHIRE.

The jurors for our lord the king, upon their oath pre-
{ent, that JOHN DONELLAN, late of the hamlet
of Little Lawford, in the parith of Newbold upon
Avon, in the county of Warwick, Efg. not having the -
fear of God before his eyes, but being moved and
feduced by the inftigation of the Devil, and felonioufly,
wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, devifing and
intending Sir Theodolius Boughton, Bart. to poifon,
kill, and murder, on the twenty-ninth day of Auguft,
mn the twentieth year of the reign of our Sovereign
lord George the Third, by the grace of God of Great-
Britain, France, and Ireland, king, defender of the
faith, &c. with force and arms at the hamlet afore-
faid, in the parifh, and in the county aforefaid, a

- certain quantity, to wit, two drachms of arfenic, (being
a deadly poifon) felonioufly, wilfully, and of his
B malice
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malice aforethought, did put, infufe in, and mix
~together with water, (the faid John Donellan then
and there well knowing the faid arlenic to be deadly
ptilon; and that the faid John Donellan, the faid arfenic
fo as alorefaid, put, infufed in, and mixed together
with water, into and in a certain glafs phial bottle of
the value of one penny did put and pour, and the
faid glafs phial bottle with the faid arfenic put, infuled
in, and mixed together with water as aforefaid con-
tained therein, then and there (to wit) on the fame
twenty-ninth day of Auguft, in the twentieth year of
the reign of our faid lord the king, with force and
arms at the hamlet of Little Lawford aforefaid, in the
parifh of Newbold upon- Avon aforefaid, in the faid
county of Warwick, felontoully, wilfully, and of
his malice aforethought, in the lodging room of the
{aid &ir Theodofivs Boughton, did put and place,
in the place and ftead of a certain medicine then lately
before preferibed and made up for the faid Sur
Theodofius Boughton, and to be taken by the faid Six
Theodofius Boughton ; he, the faid John Donellan,
* then and there felonionfly, wilfully, and of his malice
- aforethought, intending that the faid Sir Theodofius
Boughton fthould drink and {wallow down into his
body, the faid arlenic, put, infufed in, and mixed
together with water as aforefaid, contained in the
faid glafs phial bottle, by miftak:ng the fame, as and
for the faid medicine fo prelcribed and made up for
the faid 5ir Theodofius Boughton, and to be by him,
_the faid Sir Theodofius Boughron, taken as aforefaid.
And the jurors aforefaid, upon their oath aforelaid,

do farther prefent, that the faid Sir Theodofius

Boughton, not knowing the faid arfenic put, infufed
in, and mixed together with water as aforefaid, con-
tained in the faid glals phial bottle, fo put and placed
by the faid John Donellan, in the lodging room of
the faid Sir Theodofius Boughton, in the place ﬁ&ﬂﬁ
| - ¢
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Theodofius Boughton, in manner and by the means’
aforefaid, felonioufly, wilfully, and of his malice”
aforethought, did poifon, kill, and murder, againft
the peace of our Eid lord the king, his crown and
dignity.

Second count.

And the jurors aforefaid, upon their oath aforefaid, fur-
ther prelent, that the {aid John Donellan, not having
the fear of God before his eyes, but being moved and
{feduced by the infligation of the Devil, and feloni-
oufly, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, de-
vifing, and intending to kill and murder the faid Sir
Theodofius Boughton, with a certain poifon called ar-
{enic, on the faid 29th day of Augult, in the faid 20th
year of the reign of our laid lord the king, with force
and a'ms, at the faid hamlet of Little Lawford, in the
faid parth of Newbold upon Avon, in the faid
county of Warwick, knowing the faid poifon called
arlenic to be deadly poilon, felonioufly, wilfully, and
of his malice aforethought, did mix and mingle the
faid poifon, called arfenic, in water, and that the faid

- John Donellan, felonioufly, wilfully, and of his
malice aforethought, did put and pour the faid poifon
called arfenic, lo as aforefaid mixed and mingled in
water, into and in a certain glafs phial, and the faid
glafs phial, with the faid poilon, called arfenic, fo
mixed and mingled in water as aforefaid contained
therein, then and there, (to wit) on the faid 2gth day
of Auguft, 1 the 2cth year aforefaid, at the hamlet
aforefaid, in the parifh aforefaid, in the county afore-
faid, felonioufly, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
thought, did put and place in the lodging room of
the faid Sir Theodofius Boughton, in the dwelling
houfe of Dame Anna Maria Boughton, widow,
there fituate, with intention that the faid Sir Theo-
dofius Boughton fhould take, drink, and fwallow
down into his body the faid poifon called arfenic, fo

mixed
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mixed and mingled in water as afurefaifl, and con-
tained in the faid glafs phial. And the jurors afore-
faid, upon their oath aforefaid, further prefent, that
the faid Sir Theodofius Boughton, not knowing the
faid poifon, called arlenic, fo mixed and mingled
in water as aforefaid, and contained in the faid glals
phial, to be deadly poifon, afterwards (to wit) on the
goth day of Augult, in the 2oth year aforefaid, at
the hamlet aforefaid, in the parifh aforefaid, in the
county aforefaid, did take, drink, and {wallow down
into his body, the faid poifon, called arfenic, fo
‘mixed and mingled in water as aforefaid, and con-
tained in rhe faid glals phial, by means }:}f which faid
taking, drinking, and {wallowing down into the body
of him the faild Sir Theodofius Boughton, of the faid
poifon called arfenic {o as aforefaid, mixed and min-
gled in water by the faid John Donellan as aforefaid,
he the faid Sir Theodofius Boughton then and there
became fick and diftempered in his body, of which
faid ficknefs and diffemper of body, occafioned by the
faid taking, dnnking, and f{wallowing down into the
body of the faid Sir Theodofius Boughton, of the
faid poifon called arfenic fo as aforefaid, mixed and
mingled in water as aforefaid by the faid John Donel-
lan as aforefaid, he the faid Sir Theodofius Boughton,
afterwards, to wit, on the faid thirtieth day of Au-
guft, in the twentieth year aforefaid, at the hamlet
aforefaid, in the parifh aforefaid, in the county afore-
faid, did die. And (o the jurors aforefaid, upon
their oath aforefaid, do fay, that the faid John Do-
nellan, in manner and by the means laft aforelaid,
felonioufly, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought,
did poifon, kill, and murder the faid Sir Theodofius

Boughton, againft the peace of our faid lord the king,
his crown and dignity.

After
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defcended to his fifter, who is the wife of the prifoner,
Mr. Dnnellan, and he, in her right, would have been
entitled to a life eftate in this confiderable fortune.
The attaining this fortune was, doubtlefs, what induced
the prifoner to plan and execute this abominable crime
with which he now ftands charged: but, in as much
as the taking off a young man at his time of life, pof=
fefled of a good conititution, affeted by no indifpolfi-
tion that could at all endanger his life, muft neceflarily
be attended with fufpicion. It was found convenient
to prepare the minds of thofe who were his neighbours
and lived near him, for an event which the prifoner had
already determined. Gentlemen, you will learn through
. the witnefles, that for a fhort time before the death of
Sir Theodofius Boughton, the prifoner had raken many
opportunitics of expreffing the very bad ftate of health
this young gentleman laboured under, exprefling his
opinion, that it was impoflible for him to live, and thae
his life was not worth one year’s purchafe. Thefe ac-
counts you will find were falfe, and the only reafon for
his making ufe of them was whar I before fugoefted,
preparing the minds of the people for that event which
he knew fhortly was to happen.

Gentlemen, Sir Theodofius Boughton intended to
pay a vifit to a young gentleman of the name of Fon-
nereau, a friend of his, living in Northamptonthire,
and intending to {tay with him till he came of age, it
called for the immediate execution of the fcheme. . He
being attended by a Mr. Powell, an apothecary, for a
flight venereal diforder he had contrafted, in the courfe
of which he was giving him fome cooling medicines
which furnithed too happy 2n opportunity for the exe.
cution of this deed. entlemen, you will learn, that
on Tuefday evening, the 29th of Augult, Mr, Powell
made up a draught, which was fent, by the fervant, o
Sir Theodofius Boughton, for the purpofe of being
taken upon the next morning, the Wednefday. = It was

perfectly
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perfettly well known to the ‘prifoner, that Sir Theos
dofius was to take that phyfic—you will learn from Mr,
Powell, that phyfic was, in itfelf, as harmlefs a draught
as could be adminiftered to any body. The medicine
was brought to Lawford Hall early in the evening,
upon the Tuefday the 2gth. About five o’clock that
evening, Sir Theodofius Boughton, taking with him
moll of the men fervants, went to the river, for the
purpofe of taking the diverfion of fithing. Lady
Boughton and Mrs. Donellan were walking fome
hours in the garden together ; where the prifoner was,
I believe, cannot be explained to you, but you will
learn that he joined them in the garden, about feven
o’clock in the evening, and upon joining them, he told
them he had been with Sir Theodofius a fithing ; that
he was folicitous for his return home, and that he was
apprehenfive, by his ftaying fo late by the river, he
would take cold. You will find that this account was
not true; he had net been with Sir Theodofius Boughton
any:part of that evening a fithing. What motive, or
what inducement he could have to tell them this falfe-

. hood, you will conjetture and decide upon, if you are
Ale. It feemed, however, neceffary that he fhould

Jaccount for his abfence that evening, though he does
ic.at the expence of truth. When Sir Theodofius
Boughton returned in the afterncon from fithing, he
was then perfectly in health and good fpirits, and gave
{fome directions concerning the tamily, eat his fupper,
and went to bed apparently in good health. It will be
proved to you, by a fervant, that about fix o’clock in
the morning, he appeared in perfect good health, that
he got out of his bed for the purpofe of giving fome-
thing out of the clofet the fervant wanted, and in his
apprehenfion, he had never feen him better : in about
an hour afterwards, about feven o’clock in the morn-
ing, Lady Boughton got up ; fhe went into the room
of Sir Theodofius Boughton, as he had before deﬁ;::d

er
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her to give him the medicine when fhe was able to do
it. She went for the purpofe of enquiring of him
whether he had taken his phylic, or whether he
chofe that fhe fhould give it him. He defired her
to reach down the draught that was ftanding upon
the fhelf in his bed room. Then there is this
very fingular circamftance attending the manner in
which thofe draughts, which formerly bad been lgcked
up by Sir Theodofius in his clofet, fhould afterwards
come to be placed open upon the fhelf in the bed room ;
and the manner in which that will be accounted for
is, that he once complained that-he had negleéted
taking his phyfic at the time appointed for him, upon
which the prifoner, Donellan, faid, you fhould not lock
your phyfic up; if you leave it on the fhelf in your
bed room, it is not poffible then you can negleét
it ; it will be before your eyes, and it will be ready
for you to take it when you want it ; this is a very
fingular and an extraordinary fa&. Lady Boughton
reached the draught from a fhelf, and poured it into
a cup for the purpofe of Sir Theodofius Boughton’s
taking it; he had not fwallowed above half of ir,
when he complained that it was fo naufeous in its tafte,
and fo difagreeable in its finell, he did not apprehend
he fhould be able to keep it upon his ftomach : this
oblervation led Lady Boughton to fmell to the draught,
and the fmell of it was extremely particular; fhe will
defcribe it o you, that it gave her the idea of the rafte
of bitter almonds ; fhe, however, gave him the cup
again, and he fwallowed the whole of the draught’;
then he defired her to furnith him with a bit of cheefe
to put in his mouth, for the purpofe of taking away
the difagreeable tafte : fhe then gave him a little water,
with which he wathed his mouth, and fpit it ouc; then
he lay down in order to compofe himfelf, and in a very
few minutes after he had fwallowed this draughr, he
appeared to be affefted to a confiderable degree ; his
ftomach heaved violently, his eyes feemed very much

' affecled,
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affefted, and thefe emotions Lady Boughton at that
time conceived to be his efforts to keep the medicine
upon his ftomach, he having ftated his apprehenfions,
that frem the difagreeable rafte of it, it would be dif-
ficult for him to do it; fhe took no further notice of it
at that tume, and in a few minutes afterwards he became
more compofed ; Lady Boughton upon that quitted
the room, conceiving he was going to tleep ; fhe re-
turned again in about ten minutes after, when, to her
inexpreflible aftonifbment, fhe found this young man
in the agonies of death, his eyes fixed, his teeth
clenched, his {itomach indeed heaving with fome vio-
lence, and a confiderable quantity of foam iffuin
from bhis mouth, and he died in about half an hour
atterwards, in the manner that will be defcribed to you
by Lady Boughton, and another witnefs.

It perhaps here may be enquired what this poifon
could be, fo fatal in its effeéts, and fo infkantaneous in its
operation ! It is hardly material in the prefent cafe,
what the potfon was, if you are fatisfied in your minds
he was in fatt poifoned,—That he was poifoned, no
man exercifing his fober judgment upon the occafion,
can poflibly entertain a doubt.—A young man, fome-
what better than twenty years of age, having a gpod
conftitution, labouring under no diforder that could in
the {malleft degree endanger life, - The fwallowing of
that draught was followed with the immediate fy mptoms
" which | have now delcribed to you. No man, who
hears thole circumftances related, can for a moment
doubt, that poilon produced thofe effeéts, But the
experiments made by learned and intclligent men in
the profeffion will fatisfy you, if you fhould wane fatis-
faction upon that head, that this poifon certainly was
a diftilliation of laurel water.

Gentlemen, 1 fhall forbear to give the reafons of
their judgment, becaufe you will hear it better from
their mouths : but this is a fak which you will learn

| correctly
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to the fervant, he conceived it to be neceffary to make
fome excule and fome apology for his ftill, and there-
fore he made that excule. ; :
Lady Boughton when fhe returned again into the

room to her fon, was ftruck with furprize and aftonith-
ment at the fitvation in which he lay, and fhe imme-
diately difpatched a.fervant for Mr. Pawell, the apo-
thecary, and for Mr, Donellan. The prifoner Donelian
arrived firt, and here let me beg your attention to
his conduét and behaviour. Upon coming into the
room, the moment he entered, Lady Eoughton, who
imputed the death and the fituation of her fon to the
draught that he had {wallowed, immediately faid to
Mr. Donellan, goed God! what medicine can Mr.
Powell have fent ? I am farisfied it would have killed
a dog if he had fivallowed ir. Upon that, the prifoner
anfwers, why the Devil did Mr. Powell fend fuch a me-
dicine |—Where is the bottle ?—She pointed to it as
it was ftanding upon the mantle-piece. The prifoner
took the bottle down immediately, poured water into
the bottle, he fhook it, he rinced it, and he threw the
contents of it into a balon of dirty water that was
ftanding in the room. Lady Boughton, aftonifhed at
his condutt, remonftrated at ir, and faid, good God !
what are you doing ? Let every thing remain juft in
the fituation in which itis, ’till Mr. Powell, the apo-
thecary, arrives. ~ For God’s fake, don’t touch the
bortle! The prifoner, notwithftanding that remon-
ftrance, fearing left by accident he might have taken
up the wrong bottle, reaches down the other from the
thelf, pours water into that {econd bottle ; for you will
learn that there never were but two draughts of this
fort fent by Mr. Powell. Fearing, therefore, he might
have miftaken the bottle, as-both had labels upon
them, he takes the fecond bottle and pours water into
that, he rinces it well, and throws the contents of that
alfo into a bafon of dirty water. How is this to be

accounted
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accounted for ? By what ingenuity ? What glofs can be
put over this tranfaction? How can it be reconciled to
any poffible idea of innocence? Nay, that is not ail,
he made the fervant who came up ‘and who, unfortu-
nately 1s dead fince, therefore we 1hall lofe the benefit of
her evidence upon this profecution, but in fome mea-
{ure it wilbe fupplied) while this young man was laying
in the agonies of death, take down the bottle, and in-
fifted upon her taking away the dirty things, and clean-
ing the room; to this Lady Boughton objetted, fhe
begged every thing might be fuffered to continue juft
- in the ftate in which it was till Powell the apothecary
came there. The prifoner Donellan was warm upon
the occafion, he infifled upon it, and prefled the woman
to take them down ; he prevailed, the room was cleared,
the bottles removed, and every circumftance that could
lead to fulpicion was taken away.

Gentlemen, When Mr. Powell came, obferve what
was the prifoner’s conduct.-— When Mr. Powell, the
apothecary, was fhewn into the room, infiead of the
prifoner enquiring what medicine he had fent, inflead
of his making any obfervation upon the effett of the
medicine, not a word 1s {aid to the apothecary, not an
expreffion is made ufe of that the draught could by the
molt diftant probability have occafioned the horrid fitu-
ation in which he was then lying, but the prifoner,
upon the contrary, took great pains to explam to Mr,
Powell that Sir Theodofius Boughton had taken a cold,
that he had been out late the night before fithing, and
that that celd had occalioned his death. Mr. Powell
was f{uffered by the prifoner to depart from the houfe
without having the queftion put to him about the medi-
cine, and without having the bottle fhewn to him,
without having any means ufed of explaining or clearing
up his own condutt relative to the medicine which had
produced thefe fatal effels ; that is a circum@®tance, that

af
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if there was no other in this cafe, in my apprehenfion,
that ought to decide upon the fate of the prifoner —
But, Gentlemen, after Mr. Powell had been gor rid of,
it occurred naturally enough in the mind of the prifoner,
that fufpicion would arife in the family ; thole fufpicions,
1t behoved him either to prevent, or put an end to.
You will find that he is induftrioufly going among the
fervants before this young man had expired, account-
g to them for his death, reprefenting it varioufly : to
one, that he had raken cold, that the poor foolifh fel-
low, as he called him, had {raid out very imprudently
the night before filhing, and had wetted his teec.—To
another he reprefents, that he died of the venereal dif-
order; going about through the family, in order to ac-
count for the fudden death of this unfortunate young
man. Now it i1s pretty fingular he fhould under-
take to ftare he had wetted his feet the night before
fifhing, and that occafioned his taking cold 3 How did
he know it ? Had he been a fithing with him ? Could he
pofiibly know: the circumftance ? But I will prove to
you it was falfe, . in fa&t, for Lady Broughton had pru-
dence enough to examine the {ftockings which he wore
the preceding evening, and there was not any appear-
ance that they had been wetted. It will be proved by
his fervants that attended him, that almoit the whole
time he was out, he was on horfeback, he conftantly
avoided coming near the water, and that his feet never
were wet atall. It was neceffary for the prifoner to give
ome account of his death to the guardian, Sir William
Wheeler, and it will be proved to you, that morning he
wrote him a letter, which letter I fhall read to you;
that letter was addrefled to Sir Willlam Wheeler 5 it
was written upon the morning of the death of Sir Theo-
dofius Boughton. *¢ Dear Sir, I am very forry to be’
¢¢ the communicator of Sir Theodofius’s death to you,
¢¢ which happened this morning ; he has been for fome
“ time palt under the care of Mr, Powell, of Rugby,

s Es TOF
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¢ for a fimilar complaint to that which he had at Eaton.
« Lady Boughton and my wife are inconfolable ;
¢ they join'me in beft refpeéts to Lady Wheeler and
“ yourlelf.”

Now, in this letter not a word is faid of the fudden-
nefs of his death, or the manner of it, or of the fufpi-
cions that had been occafioned by the medicines he had
fwallowed ; but the whole of the letter 1s calculared
merely to imprefs Sir William Wheeler with the idea
the death was a natural one, the refult of a long illnefs,
which had been treated properly, and he had received
medical affitance. It produced the effet intended to
be practifed upon Sir William Wheeler’s mind ; for no
enquiry was made ; no perfon of the faculty was admit-
ted to open him. This young man was kept fecret from
all eyes but thofe of the family, ’uill the Saturday after
his death, when he was actually foldered up in his coffin.
Sulpicions however came on—people were ftruck with
the manner of his death—they were greatly alarmed,
and the fulpicions were fo ftrong, that thev at laft
reached the ears of the guardian, Sir William Wheeler.
Upon Monday, Sir Wilham Wheeler communicated
thofe fulpicions to the prifoner Donellan. And here it
will be very material for you to attend to Sir William
Wheeler’s letter to him, and to advert to his conduék
upon that occafion. Upon the Monday, the 4th of Sep-
tember, Sir Willlam Wheeler writes a letter to Mr.,
Doncllan, ftating to him in exprefs terms, that he had
received information that Sir Theodofius Boughton
muft have died by poifon, calling upon him, in order
to fatisty the family, and in order to relieve the public
from the fufpicions they entertained, to have the body
opened ; and in his letter he «xprefsly infifts upon its
being done. Then he names the perions he withed to
have called in upon the occafion—-a Dr. Rattray, a
Mr. Wilmer, and a Mr. Snow. This letter was received
by the prifoner vpon the Monday, and in cenfequence

of
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of that requifition, for he dared not to have refifted it,
he was bound to {end for thofe perfons ; they were ac-
cordingly fent for.. The prifoner fends a note back to
Sir William Wheeler, ftating, that with the appro-
bation.of himfelf and the famuly, the body fhould be
opened. In an(wer to that, a lecond letier is fent from
Sir William Wheeler, faying, that he is perfectly
happy to find that the family are in that d'fpofition ;
that he himfelf cannot come over to Lawford Hall,
that it would be of no ufe 3 in truth, if he did, that the
medical gentlemen were the only gentlemen to apply
to, and the propereft perfons on that occafion. Dr.
Kateray and Mr. Wilmer came to Lawford all about
cight o’clock on Monday evening, the 4th of Septem-
bery when they came there, they were met by the pri-
{foner, who took them into a parlour; he there en-
‘quired if Dr. Rattray had heard from Sir William
Wheeler; Dr. Rattray faid he had not. Why, fays
the prifoner, I have received a letter from Sir William -
Wheeler, which I will fhew ; upon that he fearched, as
it were, in his pocket, but produced the cover of the
letter, and pot the letter itfclf. lmmediately after,
however, he did produce a letter, not the firlt lerter
from Sir Wiliam Wheeler 5 not that letter in which he
ftated the information he had received, that this young
‘man had been poiloned ; not that letter, in which he
prefied and infilted on the body being opened, but he
produces the fecond letter, containing no direction,
and nothing more than the expreffion of his fatisfac-
tion, that the family were difpofed to have the body
‘opened. T he perufal of that letter, you will neceffa-
rily perceive, could give no idea at all to Dr. Rattray
and Mr. Wilmer ofd@le occafion of their being fent
for. Gentlemen, in point of fa&, it was never com-
_municated to them by the prifoner ; inftead of defiring
them, or urging them to open the body ; inftead of
flating that 1t was in order to fatisfy the minds, and

remove
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remove the fulpicions of the public ; and, in order to
inveftigate the caufe of his death, not a word of that
is faid, they afk him why they are fent for to OFtn the
body ? His anfwer is, it is for the fatisfaction of ug all.
They are fhewn into the room, the body appeared to
be at that time in fuch a ftate of putrefaction-—they not
being called upon to adt, not. having it explained to
them the reafon why they thould a&,; they declined
doing any thing, becaufc the body appeared at that
time to be in fuch a {tate, 1t would be attended with
fome degree of perfonal danger to themlelves, if they
attempted at that time to open it—they are difmiffed
from the houfe, and fent away without the prifoner
once afking any opinion of them, or even calling upon
them for their judgment to fay, upon the appearance
of the body, what occafioned the death—=no enquiry
made into it—=not a {yllable faid about the fufpicion—
they are fuffered to depart the houfe, leaving Mr.
Boughton’s family jult in the doubtful ftate it was be-
fore. Gentlemen, this is not zll; upon the next morn-
ing, a Mr. Bucknell, a furgeon, came to Lawford
Hall—he had heard the fulpicions that had been enter-
tained by the family; he had learned that the gentlemen
of the faculty, that had been at lL.awford Hall the
evening preceding, had declined opening the body—-
he went to the priloner, Captain Donellan, ftating the
reafon he came for ; faying, at all hazards, he was ready -
to open the body, in order to give fati.faltion to the
public. The prifoner wou'd not permit him to do it,
and he afligned as a reafon, he had not been ordered
by Sir William Wheeler to fend for him; that the
perfons fent for by Sir William Wheeler, had declined
opening the body, and it would be unfair and improper
in him to permit any body elle to attempt it, Atrer
they had declined it, and with evafions and excufes of
this fort, this gentleman was permitted to depart the
houfe, though he was very ready to open the body, te

D give
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give the family the fatisfaction they required ; he is
fent away, and did nor fee the body at all—upon that
the prifoner writes a letter, in anfwer to Sir William
Wheeler’s firlt letter.  This letter I fhall beg leave to
read to you ; it is dated the s5th of September, 1780.
¢ Pear Sir,

** Give me leave to exprels the heart-felt fatisfaction ¥
enjoyed at the receipt of your letter, as it gave us,,
l.ady Boughton, my wife, and felf, an opportunity
*“ of inftantly oblerving your advice in all refpeéts : I
*¢ fent for Dr. Rattray and Mr. Wilmer, they brought
 another gentleman with themr; Mr. Powell gave
“ them the meeting; and, upon the receipt of your
s¢ laft letrer, I gave it to them to perufe, and aé as it
¢ direCted” [Mind the fallacy of this.] ¢ 1 gave it
““ to them to perufe, and aét as it diref¥ed.” What
did he give them? Did he give them the letter that
gave them directions ? Did he give the letter that called
upon the medical gentlemen to aét? Did he give them
the lester that contained the fufpicions of this young
aentleman being poifoned ? You will learn from the
witnefles, that the letter they faw was the fecond letter,a
complimentary aniwer to Mr. Donellan’s note, contain-
ing no direftions or inftructions for them to att ; and,
upen the perufal of which, they were furnifhed with no
tdeas for their conduct, The letter goes on thus =
*“ The four gentlemen proceeded accordingly, and I
¢“ am happy to inform you, they fully fatisfied us.”
Good God! in what did the fatistaction confift ¢ What
enquiry was made ? What inveftigation of the death ?
What opinion was atked ¢ Or what opinion could be
formed ? - Not a fimgle circumftance was ever mention-
ed—not a fingle enquiry was ever made—no opinion:
ever expreffed to the prifoner—yet, upon this, he
writes back to Sir William Wheeler, that they have
fully {atisfied us. In my apprehenfion, if there was no
sther fad i this caufe buc this fingle letter, it fpeaks

. as
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as Mtrongly as a thoufand witneffes prefent, and tefti(ying
the act that had been done. [ fhall not read the latter
part of the letter, becaufe the whole of the letter will he-
read to you ; this part of it I ule, as affording an obs
fervation which I conceive material for your confide-
ration.

Mr. Newnbam. 1 defire the whole of the letter
may be read now. '

Mr, Howarth. 1 fhall certainly do it.

¢ I am happy to inform you they fully fatisfied us,.
¢ and I with you would hear from them the fate they
‘ found the bedy in, as it will be an additional fatis-
¢ faction to me that you thould hear the account from
¢ themfelves.’

Now, what 1s to be heard from themfelves? Now
what nformation is to be gained by feeing thele gen--
tlemen, and hearing what they had to fay ? I will tell
you the whole of the information. We faw the body,>
1t appeared to us in a great ftate of putrefaction, we made.
no obfervation, we have formed no opinion, we can
give you no light upon the fubjeét. = There is the whole -
of the enquiry ; and when he ftates his wifh to know
from them the ftgte of the body, that is the whole that.
from any poflibility could be learned. The letter then-
Zoes on very artfully to account for Sir Theodofius's
death from this illnefs that he laboured under. He {ays,x
* Sir Theodofius made a very free ule of ointments and |
other things, to repel a large b——— which he had in-
his groin; fo he ufed to do at Eaton, and at Mr..
Jones’s, he told me often; | rep-atedly adviled to -
confult Dr. Rattray, or Mr, Carr, but, as you know
Sir Theodofius, you will not wonder at his going his
own way which he would not be put out of. 1 cannot -
help thinking but that Mr. Powell atled to the belt of
his judgment for Sir Theodofius, in this and the lait
cale, which was but a fhort time finithed before the
* latter appeared. Lady Boughton exprefled her wifhes
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* to Sir Theodofius that he would take proper advice
¢ for his complaints, but he treated her’s as he <id mine.”
- Gentlemen, The whole of the letter 15 calculated ta
miflead Sir Willlam Wheeler, to take off all his fufl-
picion, and account for the death of Sir Theodoiius
by afcribing it to another caule, not to that of taking
the draught. This letter certainly produced in Sir
William Wheeler the effe@ intended by it; for upon
‘the perufal he was perfectly fatisfied the body had been
opened, and as he was perfectly acquamted with the
abilities and ‘integrity of the gentlemen applied to upon
that oceafion. if they were fatisfied he was perfeétly.
fatishied. You will judge however of his furprize, upon
learning three days afterwards that this body, in point
of fa&t, had never been opened. He 1immediately writes
to the Prifﬂner Donellan his aftonifhment at the body
not being opened. He defires immediately that Mr.'
Bucknell and Mr. Snow might be fent for, and, at all
events to have the body opened. Mr, Fucknell came,
and as Mr. Snow had not at that time arrived at Lawford-
hall, he went away, and left word he thould retarn back
in an hour. Mr. Snow came within that hour ; he was
told that Mr. Wilmer had declined opening the body,
becaufe it was fo much 1n the ftate of putrefattion it was
apprehended dangerqus.  Upon this information Mr.
Snow 1 got outof the houfe; and upon Mr. Bucknell’s
return, he was told that Mr. Snow had declined it, as
being too hazardous for him, atd Mr. Buckuell is fent
away without-the body bejne opened. " This is a moft
extraordinary circumftance :—aufter the letter is received
from Sir William Whecler, after the fufpicion fo ftrong-
ly pointed out, after the lgxgr!.ég requilition to have it
opened, the prifoner is found te conceal the body, and
refifting its -being opened, and by a conduét the moft
artful that can be imagined.: preventing the body being
cpened, and procuring it to be buried afterwards.
Upon that day the body was buried ; but before 1t wa;
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puried he writes a note to Sir William Wheeler to fa-
tisfy him asto the reaons why the body was not opened.
This letter is very material for me to flate. It is in
anlwer to “ir William Wheel=r’s letter. He fends thig
upon the day the body was buried, about one o’clock.
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‘ Déar Sir,
¢ In anlwer to your’s, which I this moment received, .
1 now, as I did yelterday in my letter, refer you, and
any one that pleales, for the pai ticulars refpetting the
{ltate Vell Rattray, Wilmer, Powell, and another
gentleman, found Sir Theodofius body in, to them.
They, agreeable to your direftions, were by them-
felves upon that bufinels, and I wasin hopes you had
feen them fince I wroge to you yefterday. Mr. Buck-
rell, of Rugby, called here afterwards, and faid that he
heard we withed to have the body opened. I told him
we did, and tuat I wrote to the above gentlemen for
that purpofe; and that you had named them to us;
and if you had named Bucknell we fhould have

¢ fent to him as we did to the other gentlemen. We

fixed this day for the cqrps to be buried, as being the
eighth day fince Sir Theodofius died ; and if the coffin
had not been foldered by the plumber, Crooke, of
Rugby, Mr. Bucknell fhoyld be welcome to infpect
the body. Then thetime fhixed for the burialis threc
o'clock to-day. And if you pleale to order it to be
poltponed, until the ftate of the body is made known
to you, by the people you ordercd to come here, pleale
to let me know 1it'before, If we do not hear from
you, we conclude you have feen fome of them ; and
left you fhould not, I willfend to Mr. Rattray to call
upon you diretly, and bring with him my note to
bim, to come here ‘with Wilmer to open Sir Theo-
REE S e o e S A L

Now this, a fpecious fhow of an inclination to poft-

%r;ne the burial, *ull what? ’till Dr. Rarttray and M.

T

ilmer are cht for; who, if they are fent for, can
: - give
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grve no information upon the fubject; thatis the moft |
extraordinary reafon that an offer is made to let Mr.
Bucknell be permitted to open ity but offers to polt-
pone the burial ’cll Dr., Rattray and Mr Wilmer are
fent for, from whom he can by no pofibility receive
any information upon the fubject. Between the hours
of three and four that evening, the body was buried ;.
but the circumftance of its being buried, with its be-
ing previoully opened, wonderfully al rmed the minds
of all the people; and it was infited upon very lau-,
dably, by the gentlemen in the n=ighbourhood, that.
the coroner thould be calléd in, that the body fhould
be taken up, and that fhould be done by force of law,
which the pritoner took fo much pains to prevent,— .
The body was accordingly taken up and opened.—
What appearances the body afforded, you will hear .
from the gentlemen prefent that opened 1t. I thall not
foreftall the account they will give you, for you will.
hear it with wfinitely more propriery, and greater cor-
rectnefls from their mouths. It will be enough for me.
to fay, fuch appearances as the body afforded, con-.
firmed them ftrongly in their judgment 2nd opinion,
that this young man had loft his lite by poifon. Dur-.
ing the courfe of the examination before the coroner,,
Lady Boughton, the prifoner, M-s. Donellan, and ,I .
believe, the whole of the family, are called upon as,
witnefles, before the coroner.  When Lady Boughton .
was telling the whole of the circumitances of the cafe,
when fhe came to the moft remarkable paffage, of the,
rifoner’s having wafthed the bortle, in fpite of every
oppofition fhe could give, the prifoner was obferved to.
lay hold of her by the {leeve, to endeavour to check her
from giving an account ‘of that fact. That circum-,
ftance {truck the prifoner, who obferved it with aftonifh-
ment. That 1s a circumf{tance that cannot be explained
by any poflibility—no felly can account for it—no art
can explhain thataway. Thofe who are at all acquainted
" with



ot -

with the human mind muft feel, that has fornething
 moft forcible to fhew the efforts of a guilty man, to
fcreen from the puglic eye a fact, which he conceived
‘muft ftamp his guilc upon every mind. That circum-
ftance will be related to you by perfons of undoubted
veracity.—Nay, gentlemen, it will be in preof to you,
that after he returned from Lawford-Hall with Lady
Boughton, before the whole of the enquiry was over
before the coroner, he chides her for mentioning it ;
he corrects her for it—fays he, you are not bound to
anfwer—you are not to give the whole account of it—
you are only to anfwer fuch queftions as are put to you,
and you muft fay nothing elfe.—Say nothing elfe 1—
Is there any thing to be concealed ! Ought any thing
to be concealed ¢ Is it material for him, any thing
fhould be concealed ? Yet, shis you will have proved
to you to be the conduét of the prifoner before the
coroner ; and vpon his return to [awford-Hall with
Lady Boughton, when the prifoner found that the idea
of this young man having been poifoned was fo
generally entertained, that there was no probabilicy of
getting rid of that fufpicion by the ridiculous pretence
of his having taken cold, or having died by any means
of that fort, Captain Donellan writes a letter, addrefied
to the coroner and his jury. That letter was fent the
laft day of rheir fitting, which was the third day.—
This letter is very maerial indeed, and I will ftate it to
you.—This letter ie addrefled thus :

* To the Coroner, and the Gentlemen of the Jury,
¢ at Newbold.
¢ Gentlemen,
* My underftanding from report, that you are to
mect again to-day, I hold it my duty to give you every
¢ information I can recolled, refpecting the buflinefs
* which you are upon, exclufive of what appeared be-
¢ fore yow laft Saturday, when Lady Boughton and

¢ vl
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myfelf were with you., During the time Sir Theos
dofius was here, great part of it was fpent in pro-
curing things to kill rats, with which this houfs
{warms remarkably ; he ufed to have arfenic by the
pound weight at a time, and laid the fame in and
about the houfe, in various places, and in as many
forms. We often expoftulated with him about the
extreme carelefs manner in which he afted, refpeéting
himfelf and the family in general : his anfwer to us
was, that the men fervants knew where he had laid
the arfenic, and for us, we had no bufincis with it.
At table, we have not knowingly eaten any thing for
many months paft which we perceived him to touch,
as we well knew his extreme inattention to the bad
effects of the various things he frequently ufed to
{end for, for the above purpofes, as well as for mak-
ing up horfe medicines. He uled to make valk
« quantity of Golard, from a receipt which he had from
« Mrs. Newfane, She will give you a copy of it, if
« you pleafe, and it will fpeak for itfclf.—Since Sir
« Theodofius’s death, the gardener collected feveral
fith, which Sir Theodofius laid ; he ufed to fplit
them, and rub the ftuff upon them. The gardener
was ordered to bury fith. The prefent men fervants,
and the former ones, for about two years back, with
William Matthews, the houfe-carpenter, can relate
the particulars.’ ..

The materiality of this letter is, that you find the
prifoner, when the idea of Sir Theodofius’s having been
poifoned, had been fo far circulated, that it was uni-
verfally believed, that he then finds it neceflary to ac-
count for the death by poifon ; and the whole fcope of
that letter is to lead the jury to believe the young man
poifoned himfelf. Independent of that obfervation, it
will be proved to vou to be falfe in faét ; for it 1s not
¢rue that the family had not for many months touched
of the difhes at vable that Sir Theodofius had eaten of.
Upon
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Upon the contrary, the obfervation never was made ;
and you will Jearn, the whole of it was an invention,
calculated to aniwer the purpofes propofed by the pri-
foner in that letter. The prifoner, however, was com-
mitted upon the coroner’s warrant to goal, Since his
commitment, hi§ conduét will afford very material mat-
ter for your confideration ; for it will be in proof to you,
that fince neither the pretence of this young man hav-
ing taken cold and died; (chat was an invention of his)
that he had inadvertently poifoned himfelf, had not-
been adopted by any creature, it was found neceffary
for the prifoner to give out, this young man had been
poifoned by fomebody elfe.  And I fhall call to you a
witnefs, who has had frequent converfations with him
in goal; which converfations may very fairly be given
m evidence here, becaufle this man has frequently cau-
~tioped the prifoner not to mention before him circum-
ftances that may make againft him; that he probably
{hould be called in queftion about it. But fo folicitous
has the prifoner becn to account for this young man’s
death, he has frequently to this man prefled a con-
verfation, and frequently talked to him upon the
fubjeé. Notwithftanding he had been cautioned, in
‘the manner I have ftaged before, in one of thofe con-
verfations, it will be in proof, with one Darbythire,
who faid te him, do you believe Sir Theodofius Bough-
ton was in truth poifuned 2 Says the prifoner, | make
no doubt of it. Savs the other, who do you think
«could have poifoned him? Why, fays he, it myft lay
among(t themielves? Who do you mean? Why, fays
he, himfelf, or Lady Boughton, the apothecary, or tae
Afervahits 3 it muft be amongft fore of them that did it,
there is no doubt of it. Why, fays Dg byfhire, you
could hardly think the young man would po.fon him-
1elf.  No, fays he, I don’t think fo neither. Says
Darbyfhire, it could not be the apothecary, he could
get nothing by it; he wuuldﬁlof: a patient by it nor, fays

) he,
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he, it could notbe the intereft of Lady Boughton, fhe could
E:t nothing by it, and it wonld be unnatural condué.

pon this he turned round and faid, it muft have been
amongfl them.—Gentlemen, this affords decifive evi-
dence, that the Priloner in hisown judgment, believed this
young man has been poifoned by fomebody : But I fhall
add a very {trong piece of evidence indeed, to prove
that the priloncr 15 quite fatisfied in his own mind, that
Sir T heodohius Boughton was poifoned, and thar is the
letter which he wrote to Mrs. Donellan. This letter
I'll produce without feeling the leaft reluétance, becaufe,
it will be proved to you, the letter was fent unfealed,
in.order to be delivered to Mrs. Donellan. The man
who carried it went to the Prifoner, and told him, Sir,
you have not fealed this letter, do you mean that I
fhould carry it open; yes, fays he, I mean that you
fhould, and I mean that it fhould be made public ; and
upon that the gentleman who carried it, opened it, and
took a copy of it; which copy 1 fhall produce, 2nd give
it in evidence. I think it is dated the 8th of September
1780, from Warwick.

My. Negnbam. Does your [ordihip defire the copy
of the letter tq be given in evidence ? _

Fuftice Bu'ler. "It will depend upon the manuer it
was to be laid before the court. They cannot produce
a copy without other circum{lances to introduce it.

M. Howarth. “We bave taken proper meafures for
that purpofe. I fhall be able to prove it

]:::P;?. Buller.  You muft give the beft evidence the
nature of the cale will admit. =~

Mpr. Howarth. . It was the 8th of September. ¢ Iam
« now informed that Mr Harrjs’s Clerk is here, and
“ hope by this time that you have removed under the
““ friendly roof 1 laft recommended to you, and no
* longer remain where you are likely to undergo the
« fate of thofc that have gone already, by fudden
‘e meaus, which Prov.dence will bring to Light by Hbr}q
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‘ by, In my firlt letter to you from Rugby, r4th
“ Septémber laft, I mentioned a removal; [ had my
¢ reafons, which will appear in an honeft light in March
“ pext, tothe eternad confufion of an unnatural mother.”
Gentlemen, you will perceive the Prifoner is fatisfied of
the fact, that this young man has in truth been pdi-
foned, but for the purpofe of lifting 1t from his own
fhoulders, be dares to lay the charge where {ufpicion had
never fallen before. ‘I'he materiality of this evidence
and letter, is only to prove, that in the opinion of the
prifoner, this young man had in truth been poifoned ;
upon the whole of this cafe, jultice calls aloud for pu-
nmfhment of the crime, and 1t remans only for you by
your verdi¢t to confign the criminal to that punifhment,
which, if guilty, he deferves.

Myr. Thomas Powell fworn,

Q. What profeffion aré you? .
A. | am an Apothecary.
Q. Where do you live ?
A. At Rugby. ol Y 8
Q. Isthat near Lawford-Hall, where Sir Theodofius
Boughton refided ? '
A. About three miles. ,
- Q. Have you for any timé before the death of Sir
Theodofius Boughton been employed as his Apothecary ?
A. About two months before.
Q. Pray in what ftate of health was he when you wa’s
firlt employed for him ?-
A. He had got a Venereal complaint upon him.,
Q. To what degree ?
A. Not very high; afrefh complaint.
Q. Did you give him any medicines for that com
plaint ? ~
A. 1 gave him cooling phyfic.
Q. For how long might you continue this ?
E g A, For

}
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A. For about three weeks. '

Q. Did you then ceafe to give him any more ?

Ay Yer.

Q. For how long ? -

A. More than a fortnight.

Q. How came you afterwards to repeat the medicines?

A. He had a {welling in his fhear.

. To what degree did the diforder then arife ?
. A lmall wound, not further than the fkin.

Q. Did you give him more medicines ?

A. Yes, twodofes. One was Mauna and Salts.

Q. What was the other? 1%

A. Rhubarb and Jallap.

O. Was any thing elfe given?

A. Nothing elfe. I gave him 4 wath to ufe.

Q. When was it that you {ent to him the laft draught ?

A. U]Iﬂl the Tunfday.

Q. What day of the month ?

A. Upon the 2gth of Auguft.

Q. How long was this afier you had fent the former ¥

A. 1 fent the former on the Sunday. .

Q. Was that which yeu fent upon the Sunday and
that which you fent upon the Tuelday the fame ?

- A. Both alike.

Q. By whom did you fend them ?

A. By Samuel Iroft. :

Q. Pray how long, Sir, was it before you fent him
this laft draught ?

A. Upon the Tuelday at noon.

Q. In what ftate of health was Sir Theodofius Bough-
ton ¢ :

A. In very good health and great [pirits.

Q. How long had you feen him before that ?

A. I think upon the Sunday before, in the afternoon,

©. Inwhat {late of bealth did he then appear?

A. In a very good fate of health.

Q. Did you afk him how the firlt draught agreed

with him.
. A. He
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A. He told me that which he had taken had difag?e?a

with him.

Q. Then I will remind you, you faw him upon the
Sunday, and you faw him again upon the Tuefday.

A Idd.

Q. You before told us that you fent this laft draught
you fpoke of by Froft ?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you got any one of the fame kind ?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Have you any one in your pocket ?

A. Yes. |

Q. Pleale to produce it ?

| [ He produces a mixture.

Q. Now, Sir, that draught which you have in your
hand, was in a phial of the fame fize with that which
you fent ? -

A. The fame fize.

Q. Was it compofed of the fame ingredients ?

A. The very {fame ingredients.

Q. Let me afk what they are ?

A. Rhubarb and Jallap, Lavender-water, N utmeg-
water, Syrup of Saffron, and fimple water,

Q. You have another draught in your hand ?

A. Yes, I have,

Q. What is that :

A. This is the fame, except the water.

Q. The fame quantity of Rhubarb and Jallap, and
what is now added to that? '

A. Laurel Water,

Q. Mr. Powell you told us before this, was fent
upon the Tuefday, and I think it was upon the Wed-
nefday, was it not, that he died? |

A. Upon the Wednelday morning.

Q. Was you then fent for to Lawford Hall *

A. Upon the Wednefday morning [ was,

Q. Atwhat time?

AJ ﬁ-bﬂ“‘
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FA. About €ight or nine o'clock.
Q. What was the firft time they came for you, tlie
fisft time in the morning ?
A. Between eight and nine o'clock the fervant came:
Q. What was his name ? '
A, William Frolt.
" ?\_ Was it the fame man you before fent the draught
i
A. No.
. What was his name ?
A. Samuel Froft. .
Q. What meflage did he bring to you, when he came
from Lawford Hall ? |
A. He faid Sir Theodofius Boughton was vgry ill;
and defired 1 would come immediately. |
Q. Now, pray Sir, what time of the day might it
have been when you came there?
A. Nearly nine o'clock.
Q. About nine o’elock you got there ?
A. As nearly as 1 can recollett.
. When you come there, did you go into the room
where Sir Theadofius was ? :
A, Yes )
Q. Who did you find there?
A. Mr. Donellan went along with me, I met him in
she court-yard.
Q. And he went along with you into the room?
A YES: . : : B b
Q. Who was in the room befides you and Donellan?
A. Some maid fervant, I cannot tell who it was.
Q. Who elfe was there?
A. Nobody.
Q. I fhould be glad then if you would tell us, was
Lady Boughton there when you firft came?
A. Nt when I firlt came.
. Pray now, will you tell us in what fituation you
found 8ir Theodofius ?
A. 1 faw no diltortion,

Q. What
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Q. What did you fee? :

A, He was dead.

Q. How lang had he been dead?

A. They told me he had been deadnear an hour.

Q. Was Mr. Donel[an then: with you ?

i Y eg. o *

Q. Will you tell us “hether he: afked you any quele
tions, and what he [lud to you ?

- A. He afked me'no queftions at all.
QL, Hnw ][:rng might you I rcmam WIth hun in the
yoom ? _

A. Icannot tell, {fome little time.

(L Did you fay any thing to him, how he died ?

I alked him th he died ; he luld me he dl:d in
mnvu]!mns
. Fudge. *Who tuld you fo? »

A. 'Mr. Ponellan.

Q. With ref, pectnow to the bott]es that you had fent
}:nefure did you lee any thing of them?

‘He never mentioned them to me.
Were they in the room ?
No, Sir.

A. Had you any farther account than what you have
now mentioned given you, of the manner of his death,
b}' any body ?

A. No uther than that he died in convulfions.

Now, do you remember any other converfation

with Mr Donellan about Sir Theodofius ?

let;i ﬁothmg, hul: the dlfcuu*rl"e was, how he had l’aken
C :
Q ‘What wasthat ?
A The particular expreffion I don’t know, the gene-
| :ralrexpreﬁinn was, he ha.d taken cold, the words I can-
not recolleét.

Qz: ‘Mr. Powell, it is neceflary thole gentlemen of the
faculty fhould _hear you, as well as the Jury, therefore
f}:lr:ak np,l:? fa ?

-

A.'l

[~
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A. T don’tknow the particular -words he faid to me,
but it was to make me believe he had talen cold.

Q. Are you, Sir, acquainted with Mr. Donellan’s
manner of hand:writing ? | :

A. Yes, Sir, _ aotl .

Q. Haveyou often feen him write ?

A. Yes, | have féen him write.

o3 " [Letters produced ]

Q. Do you believe thofe to be the hand-writing of
.the prifoner, ~ -

A. Yes, they are all of them his hand-writing.

Crofs Examnalion.

Q. Will you defcribe to the faculty what the feveral
ingredients were of the medicine you fent him ?

A. There were fifteen grains of rhubarb, and fifteen
grains of jalap, two drachms of nutmeg water, twenty
drops of fpirts of lavender, two drachms'of imple {yrup,
‘and ‘an ounce and a half of fimple water.

Q. That is rwo ounces and four drachms?

A. Yes, except the twenty drops of lavender.

Q. You had given one of thofe draughts upon the
Sunday ? - O of

A, Uponthe Sunday., .

Q. What was the effett of the quantity of medicine
you gave him ? q

A. Itpurged him very well, and agreed with him

very well. ¥
. We wifh to kpow how many fiools he had, we
muft not mince the matger ? i g viin

A. I cannct tell how mat?, it pur%ed him very well.

Q. Did they malce him fick atall ?

A. Notat all, it agreed with him very well, that which
made him fick before, he defiréd 1 would alter; that
was the manna and falss, and 1 chang-d it. '
Q. Upon the Saturday he was made fick. by taking
manpa and falts ? o (3Lig

A. Yes: I then made an alteration in them ; 1 have
thetwo letters in my pocket concerning thele alterations.

Q. You
&, :“'_*'-"

- I.-\h
-
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Q. You fay Mr. Donellan told you Sir Theodofius
died of convulfionts, and that was all the converfation
about it ? :

A. Yes all

Q. Did it not occur to_you, as a phyfical man, to
enquire when thofe convullions commenced, and whan

he died ?

A. It was foon after, |

Q. What do you mean by foon after?

A. Soon after he had taken the draught.

Q. What idea have you of foon?

A. A quarter of an hour, or {ooner.

Q. You are {peaking before ggmlemen.uf yout own
profellion, doyou know for certain ?

A. I do not know. * |
Q. Did you enquire particularly ?
A. 1did not:

Q. Who did you fee firfl ?

A. Lady Boughton.

Q. Had you any converfation with her ?

A. Yes, it was foon after be had taken it. _

Q. Did not you enquire how {oon he was convulled ?

A. He was convulfed almoft immediately, 1 heard.

Lady Anna Maria Boughton [wors.
Examined by Mr. riowarth. |

Q. Lady Boughton, what age was Sir Theodofius
Boughton when he died ? _

A. He was twenty years of age upor the third of
Augult laft.

Q. What fortune would your fon have been intitled
to, upon his coming of age?

A. About two thoufand a year.

Q. Upon the event of hws dying before he came of
age, what then would become of that fortune ?

A. ‘lhe greater part of his fortune would have
defcended to his filter, who married Captain Donellan.

Q. How long had Mr. Donellan refided in your

family, Mudam, at Lawford Hall, 7
F A, 1
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A. 1 cannot exafily remember,

QQ. About what time was it ?

A. CSometime in the year 1778, about the month of

une.
] Q. How long had your fon Sir Theodofius made part
of yoar family at Lawtord Hall, before his death ?

A. A little before Michaelmas, in the year 1778.

Q. How long was it, according to your recplleétion,
twelve months, or fix, or nine months, that he made:
part of your family at Lawford Hall ?

A. Intheyear 1778 he came front Mr Jones’s.

Q. Who was a kind of tutor te himr?

R

Q. He came to live with you asa part of your family,
at Lawford Hall ? i

A. When be came from Faton, he: went for feveral
weeksto Mr Jones’s, he came from Mr. Jones’s about
ivlichaelmas 1778.

Q. Have you at any time had converfation with the-
priioner Mr. Donelltan, refpelting the flate of your fon’s
health, and about what time was that converfation held ?

A. Several times before the deceafed’s death, M.
Donellan mentioned to me when I wifhed himtogo mto
the coundry, thatl did not know what might happen in
the family, and made [everal obfervations upon the bad
Jtate of his health.

Q. In what manner did he reprefent him to be af*
~iled ? what%vere the expreflions ufed by him, when he
w gs talking of bis bad health ? |

A. When I was talking about going to Bath, he faid,
don’t think of leaving Lawford, fomething or other may
happen before you come back, for he is ina very bad
ftate of health. I thought he might mean fomething of
bis being very venturous in his going a hunting, or going
into- the water, which might occafion his death.

Q. Lo yon remember h s going into Northampton-

fhire ?
A. He
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A. He expefled a Mr. Fonnereau to come the lat-
ter end of the week, I believe Mr. Fonnereau did in faét
come.

Q. At what time, how foon after his death?

A. Upon the Friday night, | believe, he came.

Now, had you heard from Mr. Donellan any
thing refpecting the ftay Sir Theodohus would probably
make in Northamptonfhire ?

A. 1 don't recolleét.

Q. Was his ftay intended to be Iﬂng or fhort ?

A. Mr. Fonmereau's flay was to have been abouta
week, and then my fon was to return to Mr. Fonnereau's,
in Northamptonihire.

Q., You did not learn whether he propofed to ﬁay a
long or fhort time there ?

A. He did not fay how long. :

Q. Now, Madam, Mr. Powell we have heard was
the apathecary that attended him ?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you recollect any bottle of medicine being
fent by hlm on the Tuefday : 3'

- A. Thefervant had been fent twice on Tuefday for a
bortle. :

Q’ Who did you hear it from ?

. Upon enqulrmg where the fervant was, "Mr.
Donellan faid, Sir Theodofius has fept him a I'ecand
time for a bottle of ftuff.

Q. It was known in the family Sir Theodofius was
to take phyfic upon the next morning ?

A. Yes.

Q. Does your Ladyfthip know whether Sir Theo-
dofius ufed to take his phyfic when it was fent ?

- A, Some time before his death he kept it locked up
1n an inner room, and he had forgot to take one dofe.
Mr. Donellan faid, why don’t you fet it in the outer
~ Feom, then you will not fo foon forget it.

F 2 Court.
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Court. Q. Did he ufe the phyfic in the inner room
that was locked ?

A. Yes, .

Q. Do you know where it was afterwards kept ?

A. He put feveral bortles upon the mantle-piece in
the outer room.

Q. Upon the evening of Tuefday the 29th, what
became of Sir Theodofius ? where did he go ? I want
to know whether he went a fithing upon the evening of
the Tuelday, or what other amuicment ? |

A. He went a fithing. ¥
Q. About what time in the evening ? g
A. About fix o’clock. oy

Q. Did you {ee him fhortly before he went ?

A. 1 faw him about two o’clock.

Q. Do you know any thing about the fervants being
with him ?

A. The gardener and the coachman, and John the
footwan, weie with him.

Q Were any of the men fervants left in the houfe ?
. A. Yesy Samuel Froft.

Q. He was the only one ?

A, Yes,

Q. What became of yourfelf and Mrs. Donellan "‘

A. We went to take a walk in the garden.

Q. How long do you think you and Mrs, Donellan
were out in the garden }

A. Above zn hour.

Q. When was it you had laft feen Mr. Donéllan be-
fore your walk in the garden, and where ? _

A. To the beft of my remembrance, I faw nothing
of him after dinner. '

Q. Do you remember whether he came into the gar-
den to you and Mrs, Donellan, joined you in your
walk, and about what time was it when he :L:sn‘rh}i~ - j

| il He
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A. He came about feven o’clock out of the houfe
door, and told us Sir Theodofius, he fhould have his
phyfic.

Q. He told you, and Mis. Donellan, Sir Theodolius
fhould have his phyfic ? :

A. Yes: and he had been to fee them a fithing, and
he had endeavoured to perfuade Sir Theodofius to
come in, he was afraid lealt he fhould take cold.

Q. What time, madam, do you recolleét Sir Thee-
dofius came home, about what time ? |

A. A liule after nine o’cleck.

Q. Was he then appartntly in good health ?

A Precry well.

Q. How-did he difpofe of himfelf till he went to bed,
and what time cjd he go 1o bed ?

A. He went to bed very foon after,

Q. Did he eat any {upper?

A. Very little. ' -

Q. Did he fay any thing in his own room when he
went up flairs ? :

A. As I was going up ftairs, he called me into his
room ; he afked for his phyfic ; I faid, what do you want
now ? Says he, I want to know if you will fend your
fervant with a net to-morrow morning early, as 1 ex-
pect Mr. Fonnereau here, I fhould wifh to have my
phyfic io time, ' hal ~

Q. He defired your permiffion to make ufe of your
fervant to go next morning with a net?

A. Yes; and defired I would come znd give him his
phyfic in the morning, that was the chief of it, and
then he went to bed. :

Q_ At that time how did he appear as to his health ?

A. He feemed very well. |

% What time next morning did you fee him ?

. About feven o’clock.
Q,_ Did you go into the room at that time ?
% . ﬂ. Yﬁ ;
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A. Yes; he had defired me to call in as I went down
in the morning to give him his phyfic; and faid, he
had rather I fhould give it him than any body elfe.
Q. How did you find him at that time in the morn-
g ! |

"A. He appeared to be very well.

Q. Now will you give the Jury an account, madam,
of the phyfic that you gave him, and the manner of it,
how you gave it him ? |

A. I alked him where the bottle was? he faid, that
it ftood there upon the ihelf.  Firlt of all he afked me
to get a bit af cheefe for him, in order to take the talie
out of his mouth ; that I did. He defired me to read
the label : I accordingly did, and found wrote upon i,
¢ Purging draught for Sir T. Boughton.” _

O. Wthen you gave it him, did he make any, and
what obfervation upon it ?

A. As T was talking to him, I had omitted {haking
the bottle ; he obferved thar, and faid, pour it in again,
and fhake the bottle, which I did ; and, in fo doing, 1
fpilt a little of ‘it upon the tablz, the reft I gave him;
and as he was taking it, he obferved it {melt and tafted
very naufeous, and defired to have fome water to walh
his mouth, which he fpit out part upon the table ; upon
that I fmelt it, and I obferved it was very like the talte
of bitter almonds ; fays I, don’t mind the tafte of it,
and he upon that drank the whole of it up. '

Q. Will you be kind enough to open that bottle and |
fmell at it, [ prefenting a botile to her Ladyfhip, in which
was contained fome rhubarb and jallap mixed] and fee whe«
ther you are able to tell whether that fmell is at all like
the medicine that he took?

A. No, it is not. :

Q. Will you open this, and {mell to it (prefenting
her Ladyfhip with another mixture, o which was fome
Jaurel water.)

Lady Boughton. Thisisa fmell very like that fmell.

Q. Of
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Q. Of the medicine which you gave him ¥

A. Yes,

Q. When he had taken the medicine, what was the
firit obfervation that your ladyfhip made ? You have
#lready faid you gave him cheefe and water ?

A. Yes; the cheele he chewed and fpit out, and I
alked him if he would have fome water to wafh nis
mouth ? he faid, yes, and I gave him fome water ; he
then remarked, he thought he fhould not be able to
keep the {tuff upon his ftomach ; he then afked to have
fome water, he then wafhed his mouth, and fpit it out,
and after that he laid down again.

Q_ How did he appear then ?

A. In two minutes, or lefs, he feemad fo ill, and
looked as if he was going into convulfions, and he firug~
gled very much, as 1t [eemed to me, to keep it down.

Q. He ftruggled very much, as it feemed to you, to
keep it down ? -

A. Yes; and made a prodigious rattling in his throat
and ftomach, and a guggling, and feemed to me to make
very great efforts to keep it down.

Court. Q_ How did he make a rattling ?

A. A guggling in his throat, and a noife in his fle-
mach, as if it would come up again.

Q. How long did you obferve thofe fymptoms con-
tinue upon hina ?

A. About ten minutes; he then feemed as if he was
going to {leep, and inclined to doze: | ftaid a little, and
perceiving him more compoled, I then went out to
compleat my drefs, and put on my things; and, L
think, in about five minutes afterwards, I returned into
the room, and found his eyes fixed upwards, his teeth
clenched, and the froth running out at each corner of
his mouth,

Q. What did your Ladythip do upon that 2

A. I run down ftairs; I called out to the fervant ;
I thought it was a miftake; 1 bid him take the firft

horfe
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horfe that- he could, and go to Mr. Powell, and bid
him to come ; fays he, the Captain has got the horle ; I
bid him go after him, and to go to Mr. Powell.

. You ordered him to go immediately for Mr.

Powell ?
A. Yes.
Q_ Was any body elfe fent for ?
A. No, fir.
Q. Where did you firlt fee Mr. Donellan ?
A. I fent immediately to tell him to come up to me:
Q. How long after was 1t before you faw Mr. Do-

nellan ?

A. Not five minutes,

Q ‘Where did he come to ?
~A. He came to my fon’s bed-chamber, where he then
lay in the fituation I deferibed. He faid, what do you
want > I faid, want! Here is a terrible affair ! [ have
been giving my fon fomething that was wrons, inftead
of what the apothecary {hould have fent; I faid it was
an unaccountable thing in the Dottor to have lent fuch
a medicine, for if it had been taken by a dog, it would
have killed him,

Q. What anfwer was made to that ?

A. He was ftruck.—He afked where the phyfic bottle
was : I told him it flood there upon the mantle-piece,
or the fhelf.—Says he, is this it ? yes, fays L He took
it, and held it up, and poured fome water into it, . He
fhook it, and emptied it out into {ome water that ftood

in a balon juft by.

Q. Where did he throw it?

A. Into the dirty water in the wafh hand balon.
- Q. Did you, upon that condu, make any obfervas
tion, or fay any thing to him about it, and what was
ic ?
A. 1 faid, good God, what are you about ! After he
had put it into the bafon of dirty water, I then obferved

he ought not to do it, 1 faid, you {hould not have
meddlcd
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take them down, and was angry fhe did not take thess
at firfl.

fiourt.. Did youlce the bottles put into her hand again ?

A. My back was towards her.

Q. Did you fee them in her hand, and taken out of
the rcom by her ?

A. Idid.

Q. Did you hear any orders given ?

A. I did pot.

Q. All you know is, in faft, they were taken out of
the room.

A. Yes.

Q. Who were the perfons that took them out: of the
xoom ? |

A, I don’t know. e

Q. How foon did you find it out what had been
done ? -

A. I did not obferve it direéily.

Q. How foon, a minute, or two, or three, before
you obferved thole things had been removed =

A. 1 cannot fay the time. | ‘

. Q. Can you fay whether, during the time you were
i1 the room, you difcovered. the bottles wcre;_;gﬂné?
Did you, before yon left the room yourfelf, difcover
the botiles were gone ? s

A, Nojy I did not..

Q. Now at the time of his wafhing the bottles, and:
{peaking of moving of the cloaths, was Sir Theodofius
at that time dead ? [

A. He was not quite dead. SRRl

Q. Defcribe the fituation in- which he lay at that
time ? S e o'

A. He was nearly dgad ; one of the maids was wiping
the frath from his mouth, and his ftomach at that tume
was haaving, and fhortly after he was dead.

Q. Inthe courfe of that morning, do you remember
to have faid any thing to Mr. Donellan, or he to you,
as to the [ufpicions entertained of this medicine which
he had taken ? A. Some



- Ulagl)

A. Some time afterwards [ was down in the parlour,
Mt. Donellan and my daughter were there-—he told his
wife, I had been pleafed to take notice of his wathing
the bottles out, and did not know what he thould have
done, if he had not thought of putting in the water,
and putting his finger to it to talte.

Q. What paffed further upon that?

A. 1then turned to the window from him, and made
no an{wer to him; upon which he repeated the fame.

Q_ What happened then ? *

A. Asl made no anfwer, he then defired his wife to
ring the bell, to call up the fervant, which fhe did;
when he came, he bid him fend in Will, the coachman.

Q. Did the coachman come ppon that ?

A Yes, Sir, -

Q. Now give an account to the Jury what pafled
between him and the coachman. : |

A. When he came, he faid to him, Will, don’t you
remembgr my going out this morning, that I went
through the garden and out of the iron gate, about
feven o’clock ? He faid, yes, Sir, Says he, you re-
member that, don’t you? He {aid, yes. Hed{aid, that
was the firft time of his going out, he had never been
on the other {ide of the houfe that morning, He faid
again, de you remember my fetting out at feven o’clock
this morning ? He faid, yes. Then, faid he, you are
my evidence—and, fays he, I have never been cn the
other fide of the houfe—this morning, you remember,
Will, 1 came outr of the iron gate, and afked for a
. horfe to go to Newnham Wells ; upon which the man
{ald, yes, Sir. Then he faid, you are my evidence;
- and the man faid, yes Sir. Qn the Tuefday I had
alked him to go to the Wells, and he agreed to go as the
next morning ; and when I was goiag to my foa’s room,
Mr. Donellan afked if I was ready to go to the Wells,
and I told him no; he went away without me, as [
thought, to the Wells,

G2 Q Did
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part of the family, not to eat off the fame difh that Sir
‘Theodofius eat of ?

A. I cannot fay that there was.

Q. Do you recolleét any fuch circumftance drawing
your attention ? )

A. We eat off the lame difhes.

Q. Was there any fear entertained by you or any
body elfe, of the danger of eating of what he eat ?

A. Mr. Donellan recommended me not to drink out
of the cup with him, becaule he was affected with the
venereal diforder, and not to touch the bread he eat,
that his hands might be dirty, as he made ufc of arfenic,
but no attention was paid to that aiterwards. _

Q. Butno {uch attention was paid to it afterwards by
any body ?

A, - Na Sir,

Crofs- Examination.

Q. When wasit your Ladyfhip and Sir Theodofius
Boughton went to Bath ?

A. The firlt of November 1778.

Q. When was it you learnt from Mr Donellan
that your fon was in a bad ftate of health, how long be-
fore his death ? :

A. In Auguft, fome little time.

Q. About what time, fix months, or twelve months,

two years. _
mA; }:‘lbaut three weeks or a month before his death.

That was only after hearing of the prelent com-
plaint ?

A. - Yes. .

Q. Before that; Mr. Donellan often exprefled to you
¢hat Sir Theodofius was in a bad [tate of health ?‘A :
| ' . Yok
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A. Yes.

Q. For a long time before ?

A. Yes, that he was in a bad way, and he deﬁrf.'a
me not to go, for fomething or other might happen te
him. '

Court. Q. How long ago was that when he faid
fomething might happen to him ?

A. About a fortnight or three weeks before Siy
Theodolius died,

Q. Had not you yourfelf a[:;{)rized Mzr. Donellan and
his Lady, that he was in a bad ftate of health?

A. | bad told them of it. '

Q. Was not your Ladyfhip the perfon who informed
Mr. Donellan of hisill ftate of health?

A. T bad faid he had been 1ll at different times, that
he had a particular diforder.

Q. Iatk you, if your Ladyfhip had not written to
Bathin 1777 and 1778, that his fine complexion was
gone, and he wasin a very bad way ?

A. Tfad I was afraid he wasin a bad way, and that
his complexion was altered. -

Q. I putthefe words. Did you write his' fine com-
plexion was gone? §

A. Yes, | did, :

Q. You went to Bath, atwhat time was it ?

g; Ehe firft of November, 1748,

aving previoully informed them ke was i

bad itate of hﬂgallzh ? . LR

A. Yes. i

Q. When you went to Bath, Sir Theodofius went
with you? . '
‘A, Yes.

%ﬁ Pray, Madam, fo you recolle€t a quarrel that hap-
pened between Sir Theodofius and a gentleman at Bath ?

A. Yer,
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Q. Willyou tell me how it happened, that af-
ter your fon had given [ymptoms of thefe convul-
five appearances he did, and frightened your la-
dyfhip fo much, you did not difclofe at that time
to Mr. Donnellan, you was in that condition you
cauld not ride ?

A. I thought I might think wrong, I thought
he might go out of the convulfions, and as he was
going to doze, and that it was nothing but the
violent efforts to keep down the medicine, which
occafioned {uch illnefs.

Q. Was it lefs than two minutes after he ook
thie medicine, thefe appearances came upon him ?

A. It was almoft immediately.

Q. Did your ladyfhip give him fome phyfic
upon the Monday ?

A. No. [ did not.

Q. Had that been given ?

A. No.

Q. Now andthen you did give him his phyfic ?

A. Yes,

Q. Do you recolleét his faying it had a very
nauleous tafte?

A. Yes, an ugly tafte and an ugly {mell

Q. Naufeous was the expreflion you made ufe
of before?

(No anfwer.)

Q. Now, Madam, your Ladyfhip was pleafed to
fay, you always gave this account when you was
formerly examined ?

K. Yes, S

Q, Do you recolle& ever mentioning when you
was examined before the Coroner this falt, that
Mr. Donellan faid, that I fhould not have known
what I fhould have done, if I had not thought of
faying, that I put my finger in to talte ¢ e
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Lady Boughton. Mr. Donellan faid his hands
might be dirty, having ufed poifon for filh or fome.
thing of that fore. ' ,

Q. I afk your Ladyfhip whether you do not
know he accufed himfelt with poifoning of fith, and
laying poifon atout for rats?

A Xes.

Q. Do you know where he put or kept thofe
things ? :

A. I donot know every place, he put them in
fome places. '

Q. Thofe things he ufed to amufe himfelf, were
arfenic, 1 will not mince. Do you know of a large
quantity he fent for ?

i Xen

Q. He fent for a pound of arfenic ?

A. Yes.

Q. Where did he keep it ?

A. In a clofet.

- Q_ And there it was kept ufually locked up 2

A, Yes. It was moftly locked up.

Examination in reply.

Q. You have been afked as to fome particular
inftances of friendfhip, thewn by Captain Donellan
to your fon Sir T'heodofius, What was his gene=
ral behaviour to Sir Theodofius, for fome months
before he died ; whether he treated him with re-
fpect and friendthip, or tendernefs, or otherwife ?

A. About a fortnight before my fon’s death, I
heard of fomething. |

Q. I afk as to your own knowledge, whether
you have had anyoccafion to obferve any ?

A. Only what I have heard my Son fay,

Court. Q. Have you heard your Son fay any
thing about 1t at times ?

A. My
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A. My Son and he uied 1o be angry with each
other at times. :

Q. You obferved they did not live in
friend(hip together ? 4 o Pk

A. No.

Court. Q. Notin general ?

A. No.

Mr. Newnham. Q. I apprehend they were thofe
{n{‘t ?f words that happen in all families, more or
efs § -

A. XYgs St

Q. When you went down in the parlour, who
did you find there ?

A. As I came down in the parlour Mr. and
Mrs. Donellan were both there.

Q. How long had he been gone before you
went into the parlour ? -

A. Not long.

. Was what he faid to his wife, that you had
been pleafed to take notice of his wafhing out the
bottles, {poken in any paffion or refentment, or in
what manner ? |

A. Rather inaway of refentment.

Q. Was there any converfation between you
and the prifoner, fa; ing fhe was pleafed to take no-
tice of his wafhing out the bortles ? |

A. Not that ] recolleét. No, Idon’t recollect

any converiation in particular.

CATHERINE AMOS, Sworn.

Q. Did you live at Lawford at the time of the
death of Sir Theodofius Boughton ?

A. Yes,® I was there a little before his death a-
bout five months.

Q. Did you iwve there at that time ?
A. Yes,
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Q. Go on and repeat the particular words, Mr,
Donellan made ufe of to you.

A. Mr. Donellan faid when he came home from
Newbold, there was nothing at all the mat=
ter, but a blood veflel was broke.

Q. At this time when you faw him in the paf-
fage, what did he fay ?

. A. He faid it was very filly Sir Theodofius’s being;
out {o late, upon taking fuch phyfic as he had been
taking before that ume.

Q. Did he fay that he had been fithing ?

A. He faid it was very f{illy to be out fo late 2
fithing.

Q. Did he give any other reafon why it was fo
filly to be fo late out a fithing ?

A. No Sir.

Q. Did he fay any thing more at time ?

A. 1 don’t remember he did.

Q. Did yon fee Mr. Donellan the day that the
body was opened ?

A. Yes, I faw him that day.

Q. What did Mr. Donellan fay at that time ?

A. He faid there was nothing at all the matter
but a blood veflel broken, that was the caufe of
Sir Theodofius’s death.

Q. Did he fay it was nothing but a blood veflel
broke ?

A. Nothing at all the matter but a blood veflck
broke.

Q. Did Mr. Donellan bring any thing to you
at or about the time of Sir Theodofius’s death ?

A. No, Sir.

Q. About the time that Sir Theodofius died or
fome time before his death, did he never apply to
you and bring you any thing ?

A. No nothing,

Que t.
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Q. For no purpofe ?

A. No. P

Q. Did he defire you to put any thing into an
oven ?

(Counfel for the Prifoner objected to that quef-
tion.

Th?:Cuunfcl then put the following queftion. Was
there any thing broughtto you, by Mr. Donellan,
about a month before or about three weeks before
the death ot Sir Theodofius Boughton ?

A Nao.

Court Q. To Lady Boughton. Did Sir Theo-
dofius {peak after he had taken the medicine and
lain down ?

A. No, Sir, Nothing articulate after he had
lain down. '

Counfel Q. To Catherine Amos: What was
your Bufinefs at lady Boughton’s ? -

A. 1 was cook maid.

Q. Was the oven under your direttion ?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Was there any brought to you?

A. Yes, Sir, the Captain’s ftill.

Q. Who brought that ?

A. The Captain brought it.

Q. When did he bring it ?

A. Some time after Sir Theodofius’s death.

Q. How long after his death ?

A. To the beft of my remembrance it might be
a fortnight, but I cannot fay juftly.

Q. What was there in it when he brought it ?

A. There was nothing at all in it. It had been
wafhed and was dry.

Q. Whatdid he defire you to do with it?

A. Only to put it into the oven and dry it that

it might not ruft,
I Queft,
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Q. Was the ftate of his body fuch as feemed
neceflary to you to give him the prefcription he
was to follow, or take notice of for the cure of
a venereal complaint ? ,

A. No.—Except I gave him a prefcription for
a lotion.

Q. When he went from under your care, you
confidered him as by no means dilordered by any
venereal complaint ?

A. I conlidered him as having no venerecal com-
plaint.

Mr. Newnham. Q. Is not a lotion a medicine ?

A. Certainly. :

Dr. DAVID RATTRAY, Sworn.

Q. You are a phyfician at Coventry ?

A. Iam.

Q. Do you remember receiving any meflage
from any body, and from whom, to come to Lawa
ford-hall ?

A. Upon the 4th of September in the after-
noon, I received an anonymous note; I mean a
note was fent by fome perion, defiring me to go
to Lawford-hall, in order to ¢xamine the body of
Sir Theodofius Boughton.

Q. Have you gor that note ?

A. No, Sir, I have not; 1 did not think it of
any moment, and I have not preferved it.

Q. You had notice to produce it ?

A. I gave an anfwer at the fame time that I
had not got it.—The note imported likewife, that
I was to bring Dr. Wilmer with me. Mr, Wil-
mer happened to be out of town that afternoon ;

but
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Q. Now will you be fo good to informt my
Lord and the Jury, what were the material ap-
pearances that tiruck you at that time?

A. The material appearances in the firlt place
were, the body appeared much fweln or diftended
a great deal, the face almoft a round figure, ex-
tremelv black. with the lips {welled and jretaréted,
the teeth black,- excepting a fmall wh te fpeck,
upon one of the fore teeth, the tongue portruding
beyond the front-teeth, and turned upwards to-
wards the nufe, the lips retraéted and fhewing the
gum, the tongue obtruding beyond the teeth, and
tarned vpwards towards the nofe, the blacknefs
defcended on the throat gradually diminifhing as
it got towards the breaft, and the body was fpot-
ted in many parts; there were other appearances,
there was another circumitance, which in decency I
thought proper not to mention, if it is not ma-
terial,

Q. It is not material.—Now, Dr. Rattray, I
did not mean you to give a general account of all
the appearances that firuck your eye upon feeing
the body, but to corfine you mercly to fuch ap-
pearances as are material.—Tell me, 1f thcrﬂ'lerr::
any that was material {o as to confirm the opinion
‘you will by and by give upon the fubject. ‘

A. We proceeded to open the body, and dif-
fecting the {kin, the fat appeared in a diffolving
ftate to water upon getting into the cavity of the
belly, the bowels in the lower belly feemed to put
on the appearance of inflammation. I chufe 10
make ufe of general terms to convey an ldea of
the colour of it; I make ufe of vulgar terms in
order to convey an idea things in that ftate ge-
nerally put on; it was fo at the orifice of the fto-
mach, =nd at the fmaller arch of the ftomach;
upon opening the cheft, the heart appeared ; upon
onenine the membrane that enclofes the pericar-
X p dium,
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Q, Now, Sir, be fo good as to fmell on that bot-
tle, and tell me what in your judgment the mix-
turc s, that is infufed into that bottle, the noxis
Ous matter ?

A. The mixture in this bortle, I know well is
Laurel Water. A diftillation of Laurel Leaves,
commoniy called 1.aurel Water,

Q_ Now being fkilled in phyfic, you have heard
M Powell’s account of the mixture, that he
m «n S 'heodofius to have taken ?

A Yes,

Q_ Tel' me whether in your judgment, if he
haa taken the mixture Mr Powell had prepared
for him, it was an innocent and a proper mixture,

A. In my opinion perfectly innocent.

Q. Now Sir, you have told me that in your
judgment, l_aurcl Water is intufed in thag bottle ?

A It 1s contained 1n that bottle.

Q. Have you obferved or made any particular
experiments or effects of Laurel Water ?

A I have feveral, |

Q. Now be {o good to inform the Gentlemen
of tie Jury, of the particular experiments you
have made, and the appearances that have thewn
themfclves upon thole experiments.

A T will briefly as | can. In company with
Mr. Wilmer, we tried the firft experiment of
Laurel Water upon a middle fized dog; 1 held
his mouth open, and the water was poured down,
I believe it ought be nearly two ounces 5 and the
dog which I held between my knees, dropt dead
in halt a minute, as near as | can guels, to the
ground without motion, except a rumulous mo-
von tn the lower jaw.. The next amimal upon
which I tried the Laurel Warer, (and which was

' likewile
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fikewife in company with Mr., Wilmer) was upon
an aged mare, to whom we gave nearly at repeat-
ed intervals, in all near a pint and a half of Lau-
rel Water, in about two minutes fhe was preci-
pitated to the ground, with her head under her,
and 10 that manner tumbled upon her back, kicking
violently ; fhe afterwards lay as it were ftill, ac
leaft the did not kick, but feemed conwvulfed very
much, her eyes rolled about, rifing up her head as
if in agonies, gulphing at her ftomach, as if fome-
thing lay there extremely offenfive to her, and
heaving in the firft inftance, and during the time fhe
lived in the molt extraordinary manner, and at :he
end of fifteen minutes expired. Then I gave in
company with a Mr, Ewbank at another time to 2
cat, a {poonful of Laurel Water, which I had
feen diftilied feemingly verv pure and limped as any
diftilled water, the cat, though fhe had not haif the
quantity 1 intended, dicd in three minutes,

Court. Q. What quantity did you give the cat?

A, About a {poonful, about half anounce. At
Southam one day the beginning of this week, [
gave in the prelence of Mr. Snow, to another
horfe or mare aged, abour a pint ot Laure! Wa-
ter, dift:lled by Mr. Snow, upon her receiving into
her “itomach the fitft. horn, (which was 2 f{mall

horn) fhe dropt 1n cne minute to the ground.
Q. What was the quanticy ?

iﬁ. We gave her a pint in all, at different inter.
vals.

Q. How much might the horn hold.

A. That horn | fuppofe might hold three or
four ounces, it w.s impoflible to give it full it
might {pill, in order to try the ltrength of it as I
{hﬂught It wasvery &Tﬂﬂg, I defired we m:Eh[E{ﬂ,g

her
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her no more at that time, and fhe with that horn-
full dropt to the ground, when fhe endeavoured to
raife herfelf vp, which fhe could not, any further
than by fctting herfelf upon her buttocks, in the
manner of a dog ; I perceived by that fhe had en-
tirely loft the vfe of her hinder parts ; we then gave
her another horn full, which in its turn knocked
her down very foon, and at intervals we gave her
feveral horns, and at the end of 28 minutes fhe ex-
pired violently convulfed groaning, with her tongue
lolling out of her mouth; and indeed the firlt horfe
had a very extraordinary appearance of his tongue,
which darted out backwards and forwards very
quick, this mare lolled it out, the artery in the
neck of the firft horfe was much diftended, and
it heaved violently ; and foon after the animal
ceafed to breath, unlefs you call the motion in the
lower jaw a breathing, not after any infpiration.
All the bodies 1 faw open, and in all of them, there
was a violent diftention of the venal fyftem from
the whole of the vains in the body, that 1s in the
bowels and about the heart; in the ftomach, bowels
and lungs, and fo on, the veins were diftended
and full of blood, the lungs appeated red and fuf-
fufed = I do not ufe the term inflammation, in any
other way than to convey the vulgar appearance of
a red colour, given to the blood ; the firft horfe
was violently tremified and of a very red colour,
{fomething of the colour of a deep pink, very dif-
ferent from the natural colour.

Q. Now you have {meltto that bottle of Laurel
Water, do you know any thing of any medicine
which correfponds with that mixture {fo made ?

A. No. I do not indeed know of any medi-

cine that fmells like 1t.
Q. Does
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diftinguifhable in the animals killed by the poifon
I have jult mentioned, 1 think they are fo much
alike, that 1 am rather confirmed in my opinion,
with refpect to the operation of the poifon.

Q. Thofe bodies were diffected ?

A, Yes.

Q_ What appearances had the body when you
firft came to Lawford-Hall ?

A. When 1 firft came, 1 faw a maggot crawling
over it : The face was black as I have aefcribed it,
and it was quite in the fame ftate when I faw it af-
terwards. In fhort, I faw nodifference, except the
maggot was not on it the laft time.

Q. Were you offended by the violent fmell or
ftench, as you approached the dead body ?

A. We were.

Q. Was the putrefaction began confiderably ?

A. T believe it had. .

Q. Did Mr. Wilmer obferve the fame appear-
ances ?

A. I believe hedid. I faw no reafon to doubt ir.

Q. What was your reafon at that time, for not
opening the body ? : \

A. I jult faid the body feemed to us to be in
that kind of ftate, which was a very difagreeable
{tate, and we did not like to enter upon the invei-
tigation, as we had no particular orders ; and no
particular purpofe was to be anfwered by it, that
could give any fatisfaction to the family.

Q. Atthat time was not you fent for, and Mr,
Wilmer to attend you, for the purpofe of opening
this body ?

A. Yes. It was fo exprefled in the note.

Q. Was not your reafon at that time for not
opening it, that you conceived the opening 1t,
would anfwer no ufeful purpofe ?

| A, Yes.



LL-73%]

A. Yes, we were of that opinion at that time.

Q. When you went back from Lawford Hall
to Coventry, Was you or not defired, or did you
or not undertake to apprize Sir William Wheeler
of this faét ?

A. Sir, I did not undertake that. 1 believe
Mr. Donellan faid to me at going out of the
door, Shall you fee Sir William Wheler ? or
words to that effect. 1 faid I belteve 1 fhall not,
for I had an engagement upon my hands upon the
next day following, that I muft neceffarily attend
in the evening. That I had it not in my power to
go, and it did not occur to me in point of polite-
nels, that I fhould go to Sir William Wheler, as
no man’s name was mentioned in the letter only
the Surgeon and Phyfician.

Q. Was nothing mentioned to you about your
calling upon Sir William Wheler ?

A. Yes, certainly. Mr, Donellan faid, fhall you
fee Sir William Wheler? 1 faid, no Sir, I did not
think T {hould. -

Q. Was Mr. Wilmer prefent at that time ?

A. Yes, Sir. We were returning home.

Q. Was any thing faid by Mr. Wilmer ?

A. Not that | think of at prefent. '

Q. Pray when was it you did fee Sir William
Wheler ?

A. 1 don’t recollect. When I returned home
on the morning of the Gth, I was told Mr. Donel-
lan’s fervant had been in queft of me and Mr. Wil-
. mer, and afterwards I faw a letter from Captain
Donellan, defiring cither me or Mr. Wilmer, or
both, to go to Sir William Wheler’s, to inform
him of the circumitances that had happened at
Lawford-Hall, while we were there upon the 4th
of September.

L Court,
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A. Yes. If you mean my examination, I have
undoubtedly. : '

" Q. Did you or not concur with Mr. Wilmer
in the appearances of the body ?

A. In general we did. Y

Q. You fet your names to that examination ?

A. 1did not fet my name to any thing, but my
own examination.

Q. Were the appearances defcribed init?

A. They are not particularly delcribed, thereis
a lictle faid aboutinflammation of the ftomach and
bowels.

Q. For what purpofe was it you attended, un-
lefs to defcribe particularly the appearances of the
body ?

.g. I did not apprehend it was neceffary before
that Coroner’s Jury, to defcribe thofe appearances
at all.

Q. How came you to do it at all ?

A. lentered into that alittle, as I was quite 'a

novice in the bufinefs.
- Q. Do you mean a novice in the bufinefs of
diffection ?

A. No. The mode of giving evidence in be-
fore a Coroner’s Jury. |

Q. Thofe appearances were the true defcrip-
tion of appearances, that met your eye upon the
occafion ?

A. So far as they went.

Q. Idon’t mean fo far as they did not go, but fo
far as they went. Now, Sir, did you ever hear or
know of any human poifon whatever, occafioning
any appearances externally upon the body imme-
diately ?

A. No. No immediate external appearances
except what [ have heard,
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Q. I afk you what you know ?

A. They have not fallen under my own know-
ledge.
Q. Now, Sir, I fhould be glad to know whe-
ther all thofe appearances you {poke of, from the
face, the protulion of the tongue, the apex being
turned upwards, and the lips -retraéted, whether
they are not all figns of putiefatlion ?

A. I really don't know that they are,

Q. Ibeg pardon, | really don’t mean to give
offence. Have you been niuch uled to anatomi-
cal diffections ?

A. I have been ufed to that in fome mealure,
but not fo far as abfoluely to be intended for par-
ticular anatomical purfuits, like people who are
educated in that way. | was not intended for the
profeffivn of anatomy.

Q. Did you ever in your life, attend to fee the
diffe¢tion of a human perfon that was poifoned, or
{ufpected to be poiloned before?

A. No, Sir. '

Q. You have talked of th: appearance sof dif-
ferent parts of the body externally, from thence
you derive no kind of conclufion or inference,
you form no opinion ? ,

A. No. [ form no very ftrong opinion upon
that.

.~ Now I will afk you, whether you was pre-
fent when the body was opened ?

A. Yess Sir.

9. Pray, Sir, how were the appearances, when
the cavity of the abdomen was open ? :

A. 1 have defcribed them in general juit now.
I believe I did not mention the omentum or caul,
that was red and fuffufed with blood of a brownifh

red; the ftomach and bowels appeared as Iffaid
befe
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before, in a general ftate of whatis vulgarly called
inflammation, the appearance of red.

Q. Might not that be owing to the transfufion
of the blood ?

A. From what caufe 7 Do you mean by the
transfufion of the blood, the paffage from the arte-
riys into the veins.

Q;Yes?

A. I cannot fay, I don’t think it could arife from
putrefaction. 15

Q. That is your opinion ?

A. That is my opinion.

Q. Did you look at the ftomach ; as Sir Theo-
dofius is reprefented to have died in a few minutes
after having taken this mixture, did you examine
‘with correétnefs and attention the ftomach ?

A. The contents of the ftomach was about 2
fpoonful and a half of {limy reddifh liquor which I
- rubbed with my finger and thumb, it contained no
great fubftance as I could perceive,

Q. Is it not always ufual to find fome liquid
there, what was the quanrity ?

A. Abouta fpoontul and a halfor a couple of
ounces. |

Q. Is it not always ufual to find that quantity i
the ftomach ? y e )

A. The ftomach in general after death muft
contain fomething more or lefs, I fuppole accord-
ing to the different circumftances. :

Q. You found the ftomach and the orifice of it,

the finaller arch bearing the appearance of inflam-
mation ? |

A. Yes, Sir,
. Q. Pray tell me what inlammation is, whether
Jﬂflam:natmn and appearance are notmuch the fame
thing ?
2

Anfw.
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A. AllT have to fay upon the prefent cafe, 1s, I
perhaps don’t know the caufe of the inflammation,
there was an appearance of an inflammation upen
the ftomach and bowels, the veins being full of
blood put on that appearance of red, I fay, I dif-
tinguith it by that name to convey the vulgar
idea of inflammation.

Q. You will not take it upon yourfelf to fay,
what are the figns ot inflammatuion?

A. The figns of, inflammation are an appearance
of rednefs, attended fomecuimes with red colour,
but not always.

Q. Pray did you purfue your fearch thro’ the
bowels ?

A. No I can’t fay 1 did, nor did I think it in
my power.

Q. W 1l you explain the reafons. In the frft
place give me an account how far you purfued
your fearch in the {tomach ?

A. We examined the contents of the ftomach,
took out the ftomach by taking out the bowels,
great part of the contents illued out, and indeed
the {mell was fo offeafive, 1 did not enter into that
much.

Q. Now tell me whether the purfuit, or enquiry
and infpetion thro’ the bowels was not as likely
to have led to adifcovery of the caufe of thedeath,
as any other part ?

A. I did not conceive any purfuit through the
whole extent of the bowels, would have led to any
difcovery at all, under thofe circumftances.

Q. The bowels vere affeCted ?

A. When that which is obnoxious paffeth in
them, no doubt it affects the bowels. |

Q. Why not examine into the ftate of the bow-
els ?

Anfw,
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A. 1told you I thought it not in the power of
any body to examine the conterits of the bowels.

Q. Were they fo decayed ? '

A. No not decayed, the effets of putrefattion
were fo ddagreeable, i

Q. I fhould be glad to know, whether your
judgement 1s formed upon appearances or not?

A. Not altogether, they corroborate my opinion
~ upon the effeéts of the draught. I know of no
excernal marks, by which vegetable poifons can
be dittinguithed.

.. Now pray Sir, did you or did you not, know
of the contents of che draught, when you was exa-
mined before the corvner ?

A. No, 1 did not know it.

Q. Did not Mr. Powell tell you the contents of
the draught he fuppoled he gave him ?

A. Yes, the contents of the draught prefcribed,
indeed 1t appeared from the depofition.

Q. Why then. Sir, sfrer you knew the contents
of the fuppofed draught, tell me if you do not
know how long Sir T heodofius Boughton lived, or
was fuppoied to iive, from the account you heard
after he took tne draught ? '

A. By the information of lady Boughton.

Q. Tell me it any reafon had not occurred to in-
duce you fubfequent to that time, to have formed
your judgement he died of arfenick ?

A. Not that at that ume. 1 did think of that
but I was clear I am miftaken.

Q. If you was miftaken then, why may you not
be miitaken now ¢

A. Becaule the fenfible qualities of this medici-

cine are {o ftrong, [ don’t think any poifon from
merals will have fuch effo& fo inftantaneous.

Q. 1 fay, fuppofe that quantity in the bottle of
lawrel water taken, I cannot conceive in thefe cir-

circuftances
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eumftances any one can be miftaken as to the me-
dicine, that is, fuppofing you to take this quantity
of laurel water ? :

A. By the circumftances defcribed by lady
Boughton.

Q. Did not you at that time the fymptoms defcri-
bed by lady Boughton ?

A, Yes Sir, I did.

Q. Was not your judgment at that time as ripe
for information as now ?

A. It was not.

Q. Did youor not, after you heard lady Bough-
ton defcribe the fymptons that immediately follow-
ed taking the medicine, and after your obfervation
on feeing the body open; whether did not you then
think or 1ay, it was arfenick he died of.

A. I fay, 1 tien entertained fuch opinion.

Q. I afK if you did not difclofe it ?

A. 1 then faidfo. 1 don't mean to withold any
thing thar I have {aid. ' |

Was there or was there not, a large quanti-
ty of extravafated blood, on each fide of the fto-
mach and thorax ?

A. Upon the fame [ide of the lungs there was.

Q. What quantity ? |

A. I think not quite a pint on each fide of the
cheft; and the right and left lobe of the lungs.

Q. Upon a ruprure of a blood vellel, might it
not have occalioned death ?

A. Arupture of a blood veflel undoubtedly might
have occalioned death, but not attended with the
{amn- appearznce,

Q. Might not a blood veflel that was broken
occafion convulifions and death ¢

Anfwy
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ance to have froth come out of the mouth, of every
perfon that dies of a common diforder ? '

A. Not every diforder, but now and then it haps
pens. |

9. Have not you feen it frequently ?

A. 1 have feen it in epilepfies.

9. Now pray tell me what was your reafon for
fuppoling at one time, that he died of arfenick, and
difclofing your opinion to be fo? ;

A. At fome ume every man is miftaken in his
opinion, it was my cale then, I am not afhamed of
owning It.

9. You talked of experiments, have you been
very nice in your experiments ?

A. 1 don’t underftand what you mean by expe-
riments. _

9, The experiments on the laurel water ?

A If there was a difference in point of nicety,
the quantity taken by the fubject was too lictleand
lefs than 1 intended.

Q. Is not it common when animals are ftriving
to refufe the draught, when forcing it into the
mouth of a cat, for inftance, that fome part of the
liquor whatever it is, gets into the lungs ?

4. If it did, it would make them cough, no
other fymptoms unlefs it was poifonous. -

9. Did yeu introduce the laurel water into the
veins, or into the ftomach ?

4. 1 conceive when put into the mouth it go
into the ftomach.

9. Did you ever convey it immediately into the
flomach ? M

A. By perforation ?

9. Yes? _

A. No, I never did.

9. Did you ever convey it into the veins?

A. No.

' )
.
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there is a very volative oil in it, I am very can-
fident,

Q_Did not you underftand there was no inflam-
maton in confequence of diffe@ing animals de-
{troyed by lawrel water.

A. In anfwer to that I might fay, an operation
of this fort on the infide of the ftomach, produces
violent appearances, and a rednefs; but in moft
animals I have feen there has been {mall red fpecks
about the orifice in the infide ; but the effeé@ of -
this poilon feems to me in driving the blood every
where the fartheft from the center of aétion, ta
all parts of the body; the lungs in particular are
effetted.

Q. In purfuing your enquiry, did you find the
arteries affected ? |

A. The arteries in general, as well as the veins,
as far as I had gone, were affeéted.

Q- You told me you was wrong about the
arfenick ?

A. Noj; not with refpet to the thing I am juft
now telling you, I fay in attributing the caufe of
this to arfenick, I own I formed a wrong notion
with re{pect to the arlenick at firft.

Examination in reply.

Q. Now, at the time the Gentlemen alludes to
about the arfenick, had yeu or not, tried experi-
ments of the laurel water ? |

e INg, e

Court,—He has fpake of that fince.

Q. You tell us, Dr. Rattray, when the fhroud
came to be taken from the body, you found it
lefs in a ftate of corruption than you expeéted ?

A. Lefs black.

Q. When you firft faw him upon the fourth of
September, did you or not take the [hroud E'A I
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A. I cant’t fay I did.

Court. You did not.

A. No.

Q. You faw nothing but putrefaétion, and 3
maggot crawling over it, '

A. At that ume had Captain Donellan infinu-
ated any fufpicion of poifon, would you, or not, -
have taken the fhroud from the body ?

A. I verily believe, had 1 known the tendency
of the enquiry, I fhould have ftaid for a month
by the body, to have it opened.

Q. Should you or not, after it had been dif-
cloled to you at the time, proceeded to have opened
the body ?

A. It was not my duty; [ can’t anfwer for
gthers. I thould have ftaid by it for a month to
have made the enquiry.

Mr. Newnham, Q. Have you or not faid nothing
conclufive could be drawn from the external ap-

pearances of the body?
A. I have.

Q. I underftand you to fay that when the body
was open, the external appearance of the body
did not contribute any way towards forming your
judgment.

A. Nobody could go by the external appear-

ances to form a judgment. Nobody would fu-
poie 1 fhould.

Mr, BRADFORD WILMER, Sworn.
Q. You was fent for to Lawford-Hall ?
A. Yes, I went there with Dr. Rattray.
L. 1 thould be glad to know when you firft
came there, Whether you {aw Mr. Doncllan ?
4. 1did, Sir.

R; Now will you tell us, what he faid to you
at that time ?

4. He deflired us to walk into the parlour, and
after taking fome refrethment, we were told the

ci"n
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coffin was ready, it was unfoldered, and we were
defired to walk up ftairs, . |

9. Did you hear at that time, by what means
he died ?

A. Not the leaft intimation in the world,

9. Nothing of poiien ?

A. No. 1never heard the word poifon,

2. When you did go up ftairs to fee him, what
part of him did you fee ?

-Al His faCE.

9. And that only ?

A. That only.

We have learned before you did not proceed
any farther when you came to him ?

A. The body was fo extremely putrid, I declar-
ed my opinion to Dr. Rattray, that the propoled
enquiry could give no fort of information. '
9. Suppofingit had been intimated to you that

he had died by poifon, Should you bhave opened
the body ?

4. 1 fhould have opened the body at all events.

9, You certainly then did not open the body?

A. Certainly not,

9, You afterwards did open it at the time Dr.
Ratcray {poke of 2

A. 1 was prefent at the opening by Mr. Buck-
nall.

9. Now have you been concerned 1n any ex=
periments with Dr. Rattray ?

A. 1 have, Sir.

(A bottle contaming a_mixture was fhewn to Dr.
- Wilmer.)

9. Now, Sir, without going into every particular
of Dr. Rattray’s account, I want to know whe-
ther you and he did not concur in general, refpeci-
ing your opinion of the operation of that Rtuff ?
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A. 1 with you would be more particular in youf
geltion,

9. 1 thould be glad in the feveral experiments
Dr. Rattray and you made of that water together,
whether you concurred in opinion with him 1n its
effect ? ‘

A. 1 took notice at the time of the effeéts, and
with the permiffion of the Court I will read them.

Court. 9, You have heard Dr. Rattray give
his evidence, and the particulars as to all the expe-
riments he has made, Do you agree with him in
what he has faid refpecting the experiments he
made ?

A. 1do in general, but as he has not delcribed
the appearances vifible upon difiecting the horfe,
I fubmit to your Lordfhip it may be proper to read
them. May | read the experiments at large ?°

Mr. Howarth, only the particular experiments
you with to {peak of.

A. Upon the 2oth of March an ounce of Lau-
rel Water wis given to a young grey hound, while
Dr. Rattray held the mouth open, T poured the
water into the dog’s throat, as{oon as 1t was {wal-
lowed the doclor relealed the head to obferve the
effects of the poifon, when to our great {urprize,
the animal fell down upon his fide without the lealt
firuggle or any perceptible motion.

9. About the horfe which you mention, When
" was that experiment made ?

A. Upen the 22d of March, in the prefence of
Sir William Wheler. .One pint and a quarter of
Laurel Warer was given to a mare, aged 28 years,
within a minute of time fhe feemed much affected,
her flanks were obferved 1o heave much, and a
trembling feized her imbs jn many parts, fhe fud-

denly
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denly fell down upon her head in a fhort tinfe, and
was very violently convulfed, this continued abouvt
five minutes, at the expiration of which time, fhe
lay ftill; her breathing was very quick and labori-
ous, her eyes were much affected with continual
fpafms ; at this time four ounces more of the wa-
ter were given her, upon which fhe feemed much
weaker without any more convulfions;and in about
15 minutes after fhe expired.

Court. @, Afterthe firft convulfion, that mare
was quieter ? ’

A. Yes. Upon opening the abdomen of the
lower belly, aftrong {mell of Laurel Water was
perceptible, the colon one of the large inteftine’s
was not altered from its ufual appearance.

9. You are fpeaking of opening the mare ?

A. Yes. The fmaller inteftines appeared of a
purple colour, the veins were much diftened with
blood ; the ftomach contained fome hay mixed
with Laurel Water, its internal furface was not in-
flamed, excepting a fmall degree by the lower orr-
fice of the ftomach; the lungs appeared remark-
ably full of blood,.the fmall vefiels upon their fur-
face, being as vifible as if they had been njecled
with red wax. |

9. Now I will afk you, Whether in general you
concur in fentiment with Dr. Rattray upon the ef-
fect of Laurel Water ?

A. Do you mean upon the human body, or the
horfe ?

9. Upon either or both.

A 1 know that in four fymptoms it has been
fatal to the human frame: Not from my own
knowledge but reading. * _

9, Have you any doubt of its being fatal ?

4 Notthe lealt in the world.

9. Now

1'.
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9, Did he feem rather defirous of it ?

A. 1believe he was defirous.

Q. Of fending for a man to unfolder the coffin 2

A. 1 believe that was at his own requeft.

Court. Q. You muft explain that a little more,
~ you fay at his requeft a perfon was fent for to un-

folder the coffin, did he come ?

A. He was fent for after we came.

Q. After you were at the houfe ?

A. After we were at the houfe.

Q. Did the Captain fend for him.

A. I believe he did.

Q. Was that the firft time of your being there ?

A, At thart time I declined opening the body,
not having the leaft intimation from any part of
the family that poifon was adminiftered or fui-
pected.

Q. You was there upon the 4th upon the
Monday ? r

A, Yes, upon the 4th upon the Monday.

Q. Was any thing faid about your going to Sir
- Wilham Wheler’s the next day ?

A. I heard a converfation between the prifoner
and Dr. Rattray to the beft of my recollection, I
cannot be very accurate at this diftance of time to
ipeak of matters that appeared zben trifling to me,
he alked Dr. Rattray whether he fhould fee Sir
William Wheler, he anfwered very probably he

fhould, and he would give an account of the bu-
finefs.

Q. Was you defired to go over the next day to_

Sir William Wheler, or did any thing prevent
your going over ?
A. I was not defired to go over.

Q. Did

oy
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they have no recollettion at all of what is paft
when the fit is over. I think the {fymptoms in
this cafe feem rather to approach to the charaéter
of an apoplex than an epilepfy, as it has been
defcribed by Lady Boughton, foon after his tak-
ing that draught the ftomach heaved very much,
and a noife was perceived asiffuing from the fto-
mach.

Q. Is that, in your judgment, to be attributed

to an apoplexy or an epilepfy, or to the effect of
this medicine ?

A. To the medicine undoubtedly.

Q. Was the heaving of the ftomach in that
violent manner, the effet of an epilepfy or an a-
poplexy, or was it occafioned by the medicine, be
it what it will, that was taken?

A. There muft be fome caufe for the produc-
tion of fuch terrible fymptoms, and no doubt it
was the caufe; and, efpecially, as laurel water will
produce fimilar effelts. |

& Your opinion is, thofe effefts were pro-
duced by the medicine that was taken ?

A. Yes, Sir; I think there can be no doubt of
it from the effelts of it. '

Q. Is not the fmell of bitter almonds like the
{meil of laurel water ?

A. Yes, and black cherries are much the
fame fmell. Dr. R of Dublin gives an ac-
count of a girl, in a perfe®t ftate of healch,
taking, by accident, 2 drachms, 2 ‘tea-fpoon-
fuls of laurel water; fhe fell down, in half a
minute was convulfed, foamed at the mouth,
and died in a fhort time.

2. I want to know whether thofe effe@s could
be produced, fpeaking from your judgment ; whe-
b

. ther
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ther laurel water will produce thofe effects

‘which, you have heard, were produced in this
cafe ?

A. Yes, Sir; it produces a deprivation of
fenfe, and convuifions,

CROSS EXAMINATION.

Q. I will not afk you of the Dublin cafe, or
the Abbey ‘Fontaine; but tell me, whether the
“medicine, the 15 grains of jalap and 15 grains
of rhubarb, in tic-'ﬁl:uatiﬂn of his health, might
not affe&t him and make him fick?

A. From what was adduced in evidence by
the clergyman, he was apparently perfectly well
and in very'good fpirits ; and fo Lady Boughton

faid,

Q. It is much better for a phyfician than’ a
clergyman to give an account of his health,

A. He faid, he feemed in perfect health.

9. You faid the medicine fent by Mr. Powell
_was not likely, or could not, occaflion thofe con-
" vulfions, and it not having occafioned any bad
{ymptoms before, you conclude that he was
killed by fome other fubftitute in the room of
it or fome addition to It,

A. Moft certainly.

Q. Have you never known inftances of -peo-
ple taken fuddenly ill in ats of pleafure and
bulinefs,
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bufinefs, or at dinner, and dying convulfed of
an apoplexy or ai epileply ?

A Yes; I have; they are generally very fat

eople, and of a certain age, not fo young as Sir
Theodofius Boughton was, nor are they fo thin
as he was.

Q. Have you never heard of an inftance of a
thin man being {e¢ized with an epilepfy, or an
apoplexy ?

A. Epilepfey they have, but not apojlexy.

Q. You fay it was immaterial whether it was an
epilepfy or an apoplexy, they are the fame in ef-

fect.
A. I fay, with refpect to the fymptoms,

Q. Have you never heard of per‘ons, at dinners
being feized with an epilepfy without uny pri-
mary caufe ? : |

A. It fometimes happens, that people in per-
fect health are {eized with an epileply or an apo-
plexy ; with refpelt to apoplexy, i1t depends on
the burfting of a veffel, a vein burfting, or a
thoufand other caufes; there are a great variety

iﬂf caufes.
. Q. Might it be pofiibie for that to have been
the cafe with Sir Theodofius Boughton ?

A. Asto poffibility, I think thereis no reafon
for going fo far for a caufe, as to go to poffibiliry,
when a medicine has been conveyed into the fto-
mach, and we have all the reafon to fuppofe it
was that, that caufed the effe&t defcribed.

Q. Then you affume the faét of his taking 2
ounces of laurel water ? |

A. Not
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A. Not 2 ounces.

Q. But you affume the faét that he took fome?

A. Yes; I have already obferved it produced

the {ymptoms as related by Lady Boughton, af-
ter his taking the medicine. |

Q. Isitnot a common cafe, that a variety of
things of that fmell; fuppofe common black
cherry water, for inftance, which every old wo-

man gives to a child, will not a diftillation of
it have the fame {mell ¢

A. It might; I don’t know that any apo-

thecary has them in the houfe now. They are
not ufed now,

Q. Will not a diftillation of bitter almonds
have that foell ?

A. It will.
Q. And that violent effect?
A No:

Q. You affume that, as a ground of you
opinion, that he did take fome laurel water?

A. The fmell of it convinces me it is fo.

Q. Do };ﬂu form your judgment from the {mell

being like bitter almonds, as exprefled by Lady
Boughton ?

A. I found it upon that and nothing elfe, Sir.

Court. The evidence given by Dr. Parfons
and all the gentlemen of the faculty is, the
{ymptoms delcribed are the fymptoms that at--
tend taking laurel water ; and, in their judgment,
laurel water was the caufe of his death.
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Mr. Wilmer had been there, and they declined opzn- |

ing the body, and it would not be fair 10 him or me
to do any thing after men fo eminent in their profeffion
(as he expreffed himfelf thofe gentiemen were) had de-
clined it; he faid itwas impofiible.

Q. Did any thing elfe pafs at this time between Cap-
tain Donellan and you; did you go away in confequence
of his an{wer ?

A. I went away in confequence of his anfwer.

Q. Did you go there the fecond time ?

A. T went there the fecond time, upon the Wednef-
day afterwards.

Q. Was that the day Sir Theodofius was buried ?

A. It was Sir.

Q. Now Sir, did you go by any appointment or to
meet any body at that time £

A. I received a verbal meflage from Sir William
Wheler, to go to Lawford Hall to meet Mr. Snow ;
and Mr. Snow and I together were to open the body. |

Q. Did you in conlequence of that meflage go to

Lawford Hall upon that day ?

A. 1did. |

Q. Now what time of day was it you got there ?

A. I cannot be very particular as to thar, I believe it
was about two o’clock.

Q. Did you fec Captain Donellan at that time 2

A, 1did.

Q. Now tell us what pafled then upon feeing Cap-
tain Donellan ?

A. I faw Caprain Donellan in the hall, and I afked
him if Mr. Snow was come ; he faid he was not come 5
I faid, pray Sir, have you received any meflage or letter
from Sir William Wheler ; he faid he had : I told him
I had received a verbal meffage from Sir William
Wheler, to meet Mr. Snow there, and if he would
get Sir Theodolius’s body into the garden, or any other
convenient place he thought proper, I would open the
body. -

Q. Was 4

4
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Q. Was you permitted at that time to open the
body ? .
A. Captain Donellan faid that he had then written
to Sir William Wheler, and likewife to Coventry, to the
entlemen of the faculty there, and he then waited Sir

William Wheler’s further orders.
Q. Was you at that time permitted to open the

body ?

A. I went to attend a patient that was very ill about
two miles from Lawford Hall ; I took my horfe, and
within ten yards of the gate I met a meflenger riding a
oreat pace, who defired I would go then to a patient
he thought dying.

. Did you leave any word at Lawford Hall ?

A. I left word before I went, I {hould be back ; I be-
lieve I mentioned the time: '

Q. In how long a time ?

A. Tt might be an hour and a half.

Q. Who did you leave that word with, do you
know? -

A. I fpoke it out openly in the hall before a great
many people, the bearers, and people that were ready

to affift.
Q. Do you know whether Captain Donellan was

there ¢

A. Captain Donellan was there, but I don’t know
whether he heard it; it is my opinion he did.

Q. Did you return at the time you promifed ?

A. Sir, I had not rode a mile from Lawford Hall,
when I heard a perfon calling after me; I turned back
as I faw the perfon upon full gallop; he told me Mr.
Snow was come: I dare fay 1 could not be gone five
minutes, or three minutes before Mr. Snow came; I
told the perfon I would be back in an hour, I could
not go back then as I had reccived 2 meffage from a
perfon, who, in all probability, was dying; I came
back I believe within the hour.

Q. When you came back what paffed then ? Was
Snow there or not ? A. Ne
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Mtr. Powell and fetch him as faft as pofiible, for Sir
Theodofius is dangeroufly ill; fays I here is no horfe
here, for the Captain is gone away to the Wells with his
horfe ; fays fhe you muft go after him as faft as poffible,
and go to fetch Mr. Powell ; 1 went to fhut the ftable
door, the Captain came within {ide the gate, I told him
what my lady faid, I muft go to the doctor’s ; he made
fome anfwer, I took no notice of what it was.

. When you came back again did you fee Mr.
Doneilan? Was you called by Captain Donnellan at
any timeinto the parlour when you came back again ?

A, When 1 came back again the firft time, I faw the
Captain, I met him at the door.
Was you fent for into the parlour by Captain Do-
nellan ? |

& e S 1w

Q. When?

A. Whether it was the fame morning, or a morning
or two afterwards, I cannot tell; I was called into the

arlour door; fays he, when I came to the parlour
door, what gate dil T come out of that morning? I
looked at him ; fays [, the iron gates, the front gates:
Look you there, fays he, Lady Boughton, he {ays the
front gates.
- Q. What'did you fay ?

A. 1 faid the front gates, the iron gates.

Q. What did he fay afterwards?

A. He did not fay any thing then ; but afterwards
he faid, I fhould be a clear evidence for him of his
coming out of that gate.

Q. He faid fo to you?

R TY ks T W, W ] |

No Crofs-Examination.

SAMUEL FROST, {worn.

Q. Did not you go to Mr. Powell for the medicines
Sir Theodofius was to take?
A. Yes, | '

Q. From
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Q. From whom did you receive them at Rugby ?
A. From Mr. Powell’s hand,
Q. Whole hands did you deliver them into ?
A. Mr. Theodofius Boughton’s. ~
Q. About what time did you deliver it ?
A. Between five and fix o’clock in the afternoon.
Q. What did he do with if after he received it ?
A. He took it up ftairs with him. |
Q. Were you with him that afternoon 2 fithing 2
A. About feven o’clock ! was.
Q. Did you ftay with him till he returned ?
A. Idid.
Q. Was Captain Donellan with you any part of the
time ?
A. No, Sir, nota fithing,.
Q. Do you know whether Sir Theodofius was on foot
or on horfeback there?
A. On horfeback all the time.
Q. Could he by any poffibility wet his feet while he
was there ?
A. No, Sir; he had his boots on, and continued on
the mare all the time.
Q. His boots on, and on horfeback all the time ?
. Xes,
Q. Had you occafion to go into his room that day?
A7 Xes
Q. What time did you go into it that day ?
A. About fix o’clock.
Q. Did you awake him ?
A. Yes, Sir.
Q. For what purpofe ?
A. For the ftraps to buckle on a net that T was
going to take to Dunchurch.
Q. Who gave you thofe ftraps?
A. Sir Theodofius,
Q. How did he get at them ?
A. He got out of his bed and went into the next
room and took them.
Q. How
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Q.’ How did he appear to you at that time, did he
appear in health ?
A. Ina very good ftate of health to all appearance,
he fpoke very well.

Crofs-Examination.

2. You fay you brought the medicine from Mr.
Powell ?

A. Yes; about that time.

Q. Was it nearer to fix or five?

4. 1 cannot jultly fay whether it was near {ix or five,
it was fomewhere about thofe hours,

9. How long was it afterwards that Sir Theodofius
went a fithing ? ’

A. He was a fithing; I went to him about feven
o’clock in the evening.

9. 1 afk you when he went a fithing ?

A. I don’t know when he went out, I did not fee
him when he went firft out,
; Q. When was it he went a fifhing, do you know the

our ¢

A. 1cannot juitly fay the hour; I was not in the way.

Q. Where was you when you delivered him the me-
dicine ?

A. He wasupon the other fide of the brook, behind
the mill.

., Was that the brook where he ufed to go a fithing ?

4. 1 Pa.

Q. Was he fithing when you delivered the medi-
cine to him ?

A. No, Sir, he was in his room; he came down
ftairs and took it out of my hand.

2. You fay, when you delivered the medicine he
was on the other fide of the brook ?

A. No, he was upon the ftairs,

2, How came you to fay he was on the other fide
of the brook ?

A. 1 underftood you, where he was when I went to
him when he was a fithing,

2. When
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Q. When you delivered the medicine ?

A. No, Sir, his fifter ftood by him when 1 delivered
the medicine.

Q. What did he do with it?

A. He wok that up ftairs; I don’t know what he
did wich it.

Q. Did he put it in his pocket ?

A. No, Sir, he took it up in his hand and fhewed it
to his fifter. iy

9. How foon after did you fee him at the brook ?

A. It might be about a couple of hours after; I
faw him fifhing after I gave him the medicine.

9. What time did he come home ?

A. 1t might be about nine o’clock ; it was quite
dark when he came home.

Q. Now did your mafter complain that the phyfic
‘Mr. Powell fent him before made him fick ? :

A. No, Sir, ‘he never made any complaint of it as 1
heard.

9. Did not you fay fo to Mr. Powell ? Did not you
tell Powell fo, boy ? _ |

A. No; not that that phyfic made him fick, he did
not fay any thing to me about it.

@, Did he fay fo about any phyfic ? v

A. No, Sir; he did not fay any thing to me about
any phyfic making him fick.

@, What do you mean by faying about that phyfic?

A. There was one dofe he took made him fick, he
broughr it up again, but he did not mention it to me.

Q. Was any other perfon prefent befides his fifter,
when you delivered the medicine ?

A. No, Sir., :

9. What is the hour of dining at your houfe ? -

A. We commonly ufed to dine about two or three
o’clock fometimes, and fometimes later.

Q. And how foon after dinner had you feen Mr.
Donellan ?

A It
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Q. You cannot recolleét it ?

A. No, Sir.

Q. Wasica month or fix weeks before?

A. Ithink it was a month before. ;

Q. How long had you lived with Mrs. Donellan be-
fore you left that place ?

A. 1 cannot juitly fay, Sir.

Q. Idon’t afk you exaétly how long ?

- A. I cannot juitly fay.

Q. Asnear as you can; did you live there a twelve-
month, or half a year, or three months, or four months?

A. Yes, Sir, 1 might, I cannot juftly fay.

Q. During the time you was there, Mr. Donellan
was at that houfe ?

A. Yes, Sir, all the time I was there, he was.

Q. Now, do you know any thing about a ftill ? -

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Tell us what you know about that, fpeak up di-
ft.nctly.

A. Yes, Sir; T will tell the truth and nothing elfe.
Mr. Donellan diftilled rofes, Siry I don’t know he dif-
tilled any thing elfe.

Q. Where was this ftill kept ?

A. He kept the ftill in what he calied his own room.

Q. Was that the room that he flept in at any time ?

A. No, Sir, he did not {leep there.

Q. Was the room locked ? _

A. Yes, Sir; he flept there when Madam Donellan
was brought to bed; he flept in that room then, but
no time elfe when 1 was there.

Q. Was that room in which the ftill was kept locked ?

A. Yes, Sir, it was kept locked before Mrs. Donel-
lan was brought to bed ; but when fhe was brought to
bed, it was open. pag :

Q. Do you know of his ufing this ftill 2 Did he fre-
quently make uie of it?

A. Yes, in diftilling rofes; I don’t know that he

ifti thing clfe. &
diftilled any thing Q. Was
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. Was it done frequently ?
% It was; 1 cannot tell how long he diftilled, but
it was a good while.

FRANCIS AMOS, f{worn.

Q. Amos, did you live at Lawford-hall at the time
of the death of Sir Theodofius Boughton ?—A. Yes.

Q. What capacity was you in there ?—I was the gar-
dener.

Q. Do you remember being out fithing with Sir The-
odofius the night before he died 2—A. Yes. .

Q. Were you with him the whole night fihing ?—
A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Was Mr. Donellan with you fithing ?-—A. No, Sir.

Q. Do you remember feeing Mr. Donellan upon the

evening Sir Theodofius died 7—A. I faw him in the
garden.

Q. Did he fay any thing to you ?—A. He whooted
for James the footman to come.

Q. Did you fee Captain Donellan the day Sir Theo-
dofius died ?—A. I faw Captain Donellan the day Sir
Theodofius died ; he came to me to take two pigeons,

Q. I'afk you, during that day Sir Theodofius died,
but after his death, did you hold any converfation with
Mr. Donellan ?—A. No; but at night I had.

Q. What did he fay to you? —A. He came into the
garden ; 1 had raked the canal; fays he, now gardener
you fhall live at your eafe, and work at your eafe; it
fhall not be fo as it was in Sir Theodofius’s time; | have

wanted before to be mafter; 1 have got mafter now,
and I f(hall be mafter.

Q. Do you know any thing of Mr. Donellan’s ufing

a ftill 2—A. No, he brought his ftill to me two or three
days after Sir Theodofius died, with fome lime in it;

he brought it to me to c@an, it was full of lime, and
the lime was wet,

Q. Was any thing faid to you about it ?—A, He
faid he ufed that lime to kill the fleas.

P Q. Did
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to the prifon, I vfed to tell Captain Donellan what I
had heard from time to time. | remember one time 2
converfation that pafled about the body of Sir Theodo-
fins Boughton being opened. T afked Caprain Donel-
lan, if the body was poifoned or no? He faid there
was not a doubt of it.  For God’s fake, Captain, I faid,
who could do it? It was done among themf{elves, he
faid ; that he had no hand in it; he had nothing to
do with it. I afked, who were themfelves? He faid,
himlelf, Lady Boughton, the footman, or the apothe-
cary.

Q. Who did he mean by himfelf ?

A. Sir Theodofius, L.ady Boughton, the footman,
and the apothecary. 1 faid, Sir Theodofius could not
do it himfelf. He faid, No, he did not think he did;
he could not believe he would. 1 told him, I thought
the apothecary could hardly do it, for he had no inte-
veft in it, he would lofe a good patient ; the footman
-could have no intereft in doing i1t; and it was very un-
patural to fuppofe Lady Boughton could do it. He
then fpoke of my Lady’s coveroufnefs, kow covetous
fhe was : That fhe had received an anonymous letter
the day after Sir Theodofius’s death, charging her
plomp with the poifon of Sir Theodofius: That fhe
called him, and told it to him, and trembled.

Court. Q. The day after he died f — A. Yes.

Q. What did he fay farther?

A. She defired that he would not let his wife know
of that letter, and afked him, if he would give up the
right to the perfonal eftate, and fome eftate of about
[.2c0 a year belonging to the family. 1 think that
was the fubftance of the converfation, my Lord.

Crofs- Examination.
9. Had yon any acquaintance with Captain Donel-
Jan before he came into the gaol ?
A. No, I never had fecn him before that in my life.
Q. Never in your life ? =— 4. Never,
9. When
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9, When was this converfation had ? — 4. Why,
in lefs than a minute after the time he came there,

9. Soon after his coming ? — 4. In lefs than a mi-
nute : It was not a minute, I am fure. '

9. Pray, Sir, what way of life were you in before
you came to Warwick gaol P = A, A tradefman, Sir,
and a very reputable one.

9. You have failed, I believe, in trade ; you was not
a very fuccefsful tradefman ? —A4. I have failed 1n trade.

9. How often ? — 4. Twice.

9. Do you mean twice a Bankrupt? —- 4. Yes.
twice a Bankrupt; but I failed fairly.

9. Where did you live ? ~—— 4. At Birmingham.

9. You know Mr. Pope very well, do you ? — 4. Yes.

9. And Sir Alexander Leith too? — 4. No, Sir,
I know nothing of him.

Q. You knew Pope ? — 4. Yes, Sir. 1 know net
Sir Alexander Leith. I never fpoke to him in my life.

Q. What time of day was this converfation held ?—
A. Why, we have had fome part of that converfation
over many times. I fancy it was before dinner.

Q. Was it common talk ? — 4. Common converfa-
tion ; we have had it frequently. The Captain and I
have talked over the affair hundreds of times.

&. So that was his ufual account ? — 4. No; not
always, but frequently, fpeaking of Sir T'heodofius’s
death, and my Lady’s behaviour: But faid he was in-
nocent ; and faid it was impoffible for him to do the
thing ; it was not in his power, he faid. :

Examination in Reply.
9. Did he ever make any doubt, in thefe converfa-
tions, that Sir Theodofius had been poifoned by fome-

body ? — 4. Since Chriftmas, he has faid Sir Theodo-
fius was not poifoned.

9. Not much before ? — 4. Not much before, as I
remember,

9. How lately has he altered that converfation ? —
_ 4. 1 cane
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Cbpy of Captain Donellan’s Letter to Sir William

Wheler.
Dear Sir,

I am very forry to bé the communicator of Sir
Theodofius’s death to you, which happened this morn-
ing; he has been for fome time paft under the care of
Mr. Powell, of Rugby, for a {imilar complaint to that
which he had at Eaton. Lady Boughton and my wife
are inconfolable ; they join me in beit refpects to Lady
Wheler, yourfelf, Mr. and Mrs. Sitwell; we were
much concerned to hear of their lofs.

I am, dear Sir, with the greateft efteem,

Lawford Hall, Your moft obedient fervant;
Aug. 30, 1780. JOHN DONELLAKN;
Dear Sir, Lemington, Sept. 2, 1780.

I received the favour of your letter the day after
my return from Mr. Sitwell’s,  The fudden and very
untimely death of my poor unfortunate Ward gives
me great concern, and we condole with Lady Bough-
ton, Mrs. Donellan, and yourfelf for his lofs. 1 fend
a fervant with this to know how Lady Boughton and
Mrs. Donellan do, after {o fudden and great a thock.
Pleafe to make our refpefts to them. At 4 proper
time I fhall make my refpeéts to them and you in

perfon,
I am, dear Sir, your obedient humble fervant,

WILLIAM WHELER.
To Jobn Donellan, Ef3.
Lawford Hall,

Dear Sir, Lemington, Sept. 4, 178o0.

SINCE I wrote to you laft I have been applied to,
as the guardian of the late Theodofius Boughton, to

CL enquire
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enquire into the caufe of his fudden death. And re-
port fays, that he was better the morning of his death,
and before he took the phyfic, than he had been for
many weeks; and that he was taken ill in lefs than
half an hour, and died in two hours after he had {wal-
lowed the phyflic. Suppofing this to be true, there is
great realon to believe that the phyfic was improper,
and that it might be the caufe of his death. As it

makes a great noife in the country, and as find that I
am very much blamed for not making fome enquiry
into the affair, I thought it neceffary to call upon Mr.
Powell, to give an account in what ftate of health he
found Sir Theodofius Boughton when he firft artended
him, what medicines he gave him, and, particularly,
the dofe of phyfic that he tock the morning of his
death; and what ftate he was in at the time of ‘his
death. I expeft Mr. Powell here every moment, his
- charatter is at ftake, and I dare fay it will be a great
fatisfattion to ‘him to have the body opened; - and
though it is very late to do it now, yer it will appear
" from the ftomach whether there is any thing corrofive
“init. Asafriend to you, I muft fay that it will be a
~ great fatisfattion to me, and 1 2m fure it muft be fo to
you, Lady Boughton, and Mrs. Donellan, when 1 af-
fure you that it is reperted all over the country that he
was killed either by medicine or by poifon. The coun-
try will never be convinced to the contrary unlefs the
body is opened, and we fhall be all very much blamed
therefore I muft requeft it of you, and the family, that
the body may be immediatly opened, by Mr., Wilmer,
of Coventry, or Mr. Snow, of Southam, in the pre-
fence of Dr. Rattray, or any other phylician that you
and ‘he family think proper. Mr. Powell is now with
me, and, from his account, it does not appear that his
medicines could be the caufe of his death; he has not
gave him any mercury fince June, and the phylic he
took, the morning of his death, was compefed Uf'rhtul;

~ bar
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barb and jallap, two very innocent drugs. Mr. Powell
fays it will be a great fatisfaction to him to have the
body opened ; and, for the above reafons, I moit fin-
cerely wifh it, as no refletions can be caflt upon me,
Lady Boughton, or you, if it is done; and if it is not
we fhall be much blamed. 1 will only add, that this
affair makes me very unhappy, as it muft do you, Lady
Boughton, and Mrs. Donellan. 1 beg of you to lay
this affair before Lady Boughton in as tender a manner
as you can, and to point out to her the real neceffity
of complying with my requeft, and to fay thatitis ex-
pected from the country.

I am, with refpe@s to Lady Boughton, yourfelf, and
Mrs. Donellan,

Your fincere friend, and obliged humble fervant,
WILLIAM WHELER.

Dear Sir,

I chis moment received a letter from you, by Mr.
Powell, which I communicated to Lady Boughton and
my wife, and we moft chearfully with to have the body’
of Sir Theodofius opened, for the general fatisfation,
and the fooner it is done the better, therefore I wifh
you could be here at the time.

I am, dear Sir, with the greateft fincerity,
- Your moft obedient humble fervant,

Lawford Hall, JOHN DONELLAN.
Sept. 4, 1780,

Dear Sir,

I have this moment received the favour of your
letter, and 1 am very happy to find that Lady Bough-
ton, Mrs. Donellan, and yourfelf, approve of having
the body opened. I fhould wifh to thew Lady Bough-

Q 2 tom,



(180 )

kon, and every part of her family, every refpeét that is
in my power, but it would be very improper for me,
or indeed any other perfon except th= faculty, to attend
upon this occafion ; the furgeons, a phyfician, and Mr.
Powell, thould attend as {oon as poffible. 1 hope that
you underftand that it is not to fatsfy my curiofity but
the public, that [ wifh ro have this done, and to prevent

1e world ‘rom blaming any of us that had any thing to

h peor Sir Theodofius. '

1 am, with great fincerity,
Your faithful humble fervant, -
WILLIAM WHELER.

Dear Sir,

GIVE me leave to exprefs the heart-felt fatisfaction
I enjoyed in the receipt of your letter, as it gave us,
Lady Boughton, my wife, ard {elf, an opportunity of
inftantly obierving your advice in all refpeéts. [ fent
for Dr. Rattray and Mr. Wilmer, they brought another
gentleman with them, Mr. Powell gave them the meet-
ing; and, upon the receipt of your laft letter, I gave
it to them to perpfe, and act as it directed; the four
gentlemen proceeded accordingly, and 1 am happy to
inform you they fully fatisfied us; and I with you would
hear from them the ftate they found the body in, as it
will be an additional fatisfaétion to me, that you fhould
hear the account from themfelves. Sir Theodofius
made a very free ufe of ointments and other things, to
repell a large b—— which he had in his groin; fo he
ufed to do ac Faton, and at Mr. Jones’s, he told me
often. 1 repeatedly advifed to confule Dr. Rattray, or
Mr, Carr, but, as you knew Sie Theodofius, you will
sot wonder at his going his own way, which he would
not be put out of. | cannot help thinking but that
Mr.hfﬁawéll acted to the beft of his-judgment for Sir
NERRES W e Fo b Theodofius
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Theodofius in this and the laft cafe, which was but a
fhort time finihed before the latter appeared. Lady
Boughton exprefled her wifhes to Sir Theodofius, that
he would take proper advice for his complaints, but he

rreated her’s as he did mine, She and my wife joinin
beflt, &c.

Sept. 5, 1780. JOHN DONELLAN,

After the letter of the sth of September was read, .
the following queftions were afked of Sir William
Wheler :

Q. Upon the receipt of that letter, did you entertain
the idea of this body being opened ?
~ A. I took it for granted the body bad been opened.
Q. When was you firft undeceived in that parti-
cular ?
A. On Wednefday morning.
Q. By whom ?
A. By Lady Boughton.
Q. Did you, in confequence of being undeceived,
write any letter to Mr. Donellan ?
A. 1 did immediately.

The letter of the 6th of September read :
Dear Sir,

FROM the letter that I received from you yefterday
morning, I concluded that the body of the late Sir
Theodofius Boughton had been opened, and that I
fhould receive an account from the faculty of the ftate
that they found it. I have not yet heard from them,
but find that they found the body in {o putrid a {tate,
that they thought it not fafe to open it. I likewife find
that a young man of Rugby (Mr. Bucknill) did attend,
and offer to open the body, but it was not done. If
Bucknill and Snow will do it, I by all means recom-
mend it to you to let it be done, as it muft be a fatif-

faction
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faction to you, as well as mylelf, to have the caufe of
his fadden death cleared up to the world. If there is
apy;danger in opening the body, it is to themfelves,
and not to the family, as the body may be taken into
the open air. If I am not milinformed, Mr. Bucknill
is, or was, very defirous of opening the body. I am,
with refpects to Lady Boughton, Mrs. Donellan, and
yourfelf, | - '
Your fincere friend, and obliged humble fervant,

Lemington, Sept. 6, 1780. WILLIAM WHELER.

- If Snow is from home I do not fee any impropriety
in Bucknill’s doing i, if he is willing. I will fend
Snow to Bucknill, that if Bucknill thould be gone to
Lawford he may follow him, : .=
To Fobn Donellan, Efg. '

Lawford Hall.

After the letters were read, except the letter to the
Coroner and his_ Jury, the following queftions were
afked of Sir William Wheler.

Q. How far do you live from Lawford-hall ?

A. About eight miles, the neareft way.

Q. How far is it the coach-road ?

A. Ten miles.

Q. What time would it take to go from your
houfe to Lawford-hall ? -

- A. The fervants always go the round-about way,
the other is,atrefpals. They might go the long way.
I fuppofe it is about ten miles at leaft.

Then the letter of the Coroner and the reft of the

Jury was read, as féllows: -

T 'the Cnrgﬁer«, and Gentlémen of the Jury, at
Newbold. s
Gentlemen, my_under[tanding' from report that you

are o meet again to-day, I held it my duty to give you
| g | o every
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‘every information 1 can recolle&t, refpeting the bufi-
nefs which you are upon, exclufive of what appeared
before you laft Saturday, when Lady Boughton and
felf was with you. During the time Sir Theodofius was
here, 'g‘{ﬁat part of it was {pent in procuring things to
kill rats, with which this houfe {warms remarkably-:
He ufed to have arfenic by the pound weight at atime,
and laid the fame in and about the houle in various
places, and in as many forms. "We often expoftulated
with him about the extreme carelefs manner in' which
‘he acted, refpefting himfelf and the family in general.
“His anfwer to us was, that the men fervants knew
where he laid the arfenic, and for us, we had'no bu-
{inefs with jt. At table, we have not, knowingly,
eaten any thing for many months paft which we per-
‘cetved him to touch, as'we well knew his extreme in-
attention to the bad effeéts of the various things he
frequently ufed to fend for, for the above purpofes, as
well as for ‘making up horfe medicines. He ufed to
make valt quantities of golard, from a receipt which he
had from Mrs, Newfam. - She will give you a copy of
it, if you pleafe, and ic will fpeak for itfelf. Since Sir
Theodofius’s death, the gardener colleted feveral fith
which Sir Theodofius laid ; he ufed to fplit them, and
rub the ftuff upon them. The gardener was ordered
to bury the fith., The prefent men fervants and the
former ones, for about two years back, with William
Matthews, the houfe-carpenter, can relate the particu-
lars refpecting the above having been Sir Theodofius’s
common practice when he was able, or that he was not
a filhing, or attending his rabbits, or -at carpentering
work. Lady Boughton, my wife, and myfelf, have
fhewed the utmoft willingnefs to fatisfy the public re-
_1pecting Sir Theodofius’s death, by every act within the
limits of eur power. The accompanied letter from Sir
William Wheler will teftify the fame, “as well ‘as our
orders that every one that came to the houfe fhould

fee
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fee the corps before it was put into the coffin, the fourth
day, and the eighth day the corps was fencto the vauls
at Newbold, I am,

Gentlemen, ‘
Your moit obedient humble fervant,
Thurfday, Lawford-ball. JOHN DONELLAN.

14th Sept. 1780.

After the letter to the Coroner and his Jury was read,
Sir William Wheler was crofs-examined.

Q. Pray, Sir, did you know the late Sir Edward
Boughton ?

A. 1 did very well.

Q. Do you recollet what he died of ?

A. 1 really do not know. He died fuddenly. I
never heard.

. He died as he was walking home ?

A. I believe he did. I do not know it of my own
knowledge.

Q. It was fo underftood ?

A. It was {o underftood.

Q. What fort of perfon was he?

A. He was a fhort thick-fet fat man.
: QhWhat was the perfon of the late Sir Theodofius
Boughton ? :

A. Very thin, and much raller than his father.

Q. What age was Sir Edward Boughton when ae
died ?

A. Sixty.

Mr: EDWARD ORME, {worn,

Q. What is your Chriftian name ?

A. My name is Edward.

Q. Were you at any time defired to carry a letter by
the prifoner to any perfon ?

&, 18
Q. By
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About three ¢’clock that afterncon, Mr. Bucknill
arrived alone, and immediately on his arrival T afked
him, if the plumber and carpenter (who were then
there) (hould open the coffins, who defiréd they might
wait till Mr. Snow fhould attend. ' L

Mr. Bucknill waited fome time, and then informed
me that he muft go, but faid he would return again,
- and defired that if Mr. Snow fhould arrive in the mean

time, he might wait. I prefled him to ftay, but he
faid he could not do it. |

Soon after Mr. Bucknill was gone, Mr. Snow ar-
rived, and waited a confiderable time for Mr. Buck-
nill’s return ; but on his not arriving, he at length fent
for the plumber and others into the parlour, and after
examining them as to the purtridity of the body, de-
clared he would not be concerned in opening it for Sir
Theodofius’s eftate ; and recommending it to the fa-
mily to have the fame buried that afternoon, immedi-
ately left Lawford before Mr. Bucknill’s return.

The body was therefore buried that evening, but
not by my directions or defire.

This, my Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, was the
undifguifed part 1 took ; but, fuch is my misfortune,
that not only a gentleman, unufed to attend this bar,
whofe perfuafive abilities the moft confcious innocence
muft tremble at, has been called in againft me—but
the moft trifling aétions and expreflions have been -
handled to my prejudice: My private letters have been
broke open, and many other unjuftifiable fteps have
been taken to prejudice the world, and imbitter my
defence. However, depending upon the conlcience of
‘my Judge, and the unprejudiced impartiality of my
Jury, 1 wult my honour will be proteted by their
verdict.

Mr.
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thofe circumftances, or from the appearances, extes
nally or internally, upon the body, to enable you in
your judgment to decide that his death was owing to
“poifon ?

A. In Londoa I had fome gentlemen, who are pre-
fent in this Court, wait upon me with the examination
of Mr. Powell and L.ady Boughton, with the phyfical
gentlemens opinion upon that diffection.

Q. T did not wifh to go into thar; 1 put my quel-
tion in a general way ? '

A. The appearances of the body certainly explain
nothing.

Q. By appearances of the body let me underftand
whether you mean to fay, the external or internal ap-
pearances ? _

A. The whole of the appearances upon the diffec-
tion explain nothing but putrefaction.

Q. Pray, Sir, have you been in the habit of diffecs-
ing human fubjeés ?

- A. Some thoufands.

Q. I prefume more than any man in Europe ; have
you been long in that habic?

A.- Thefe thirty-three years.

Q. You heard thofe appearances mentioned; are
they, in your judgment, fuch as are the refult of putre-
fattion in dead fubjeéts ?

A. Entirely.

Q. Then as to the fymptoms that appeared after
the medicine was given, are they fuch as neceffarily
conclude that he had taken poifon ?

A. Certainly nor,

Q. If an apoplexy had come on, would not the fymp-
toms have been nearly or fomewhat fimilar ?

A. Very much the fame,

Q. Pray, Sir, have you ever known a young fubject
die of an apoplexy, or epilepfy ?
- > A, Certainly ;
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A. Certainly ; with regard to apoplexy, huuoh not
fo frequently, young fubjects will die; and perhaps
more frequently than old ones, of emlepfy Children
are dying every day of teething, a fpecies of epilepfy
anﬁng from 1t.

-Q. Did you ever, in your praétice, know aninftance
of laurel water being given to a human fubjeét ?

A. No, never.

Q. Is apny certain analogy to be drawn from the ef-
fefts of a given fpecies of poifon upon an animal, I
mean the binte L:Eatmn, to that which it has, or may
have, upon the human fubject ?

A. As far as my experience goes, which is pot very
confined, becaufe 1 have poifened fome hundreds of
animals ; they are very near the fame: opipm will poi-

fon a dog fimilar te a man, arfenic will have very near

the fame effect upon a dog as it will have upon a man;;
that is, I know fomething of the effeéts of them, and
i believe their operations will be nearly [imilar.

Q. Does it not happen that many things will kill
animals almoft inftantaneoufly, fpirits, for inftance, ac-
curs to me that know nothing of the fubjet ; that will
have no detrimental or noxious ¢flect upon the human
fubjedt?

A. 1 apprehend a great deal depends upon the mode
of experiment.  There s no man fit to make an ex-
periment but thofe that have made many, and by a
confiderable attention to all the circumftances that re-
late to experiment. It is a common experiment, and
. believe it feldom fails, and is in the mouth of ev
body, thata ljttle brandy fhall kill a car; I have madc
the experiment, and | have killed feveral cats, but it is

-4 falfe experiment, In all thofe cales where it kills tif:
cat, if IS got into the cat’s Iungs not the ftomach ;
you convey it into the ftomach, in fuch a way thar Lht
Jungs fhall not be affected, the cat will not die. Now
in all thole experiments that are made in forcing the

anima)
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ahimal fo drink, there are two aperarmns going oh ¢
there is one; refufing the o fpcratmn by the animal;
the other, of forcing upon it from it’s ftruggling to re-
fufe it ; and there are very few experiments of that
kind but fome of the liquid will get into the lungs.

I have known it from experiment.
Q. If youare called upon to diffe€t a body, fufpected

to have died of poifon, and had been prefent at the dil-
fe&ion, fhould you not have thought it neccflary to
have pu'fufd your fearch into the inteftines, into the
gues 7

- A. Céertainly.

Do you, or not, apprehend you would have beén
likely, or more ltktly- to have réceived information
fmm thence than any other part of the human frame ?

That is the cract of the poifon, and therefore 1
ﬁmuid certainly follow that tract through.

Q. You have heard particularly, the fymptoms of
frath coming out of Sir Theodoftus Boughton’s mouth
immediately before he died ; is that pn:-::uhar to a man
dying of poifon, oris it not vcry common in many
nthtr complaings ?

[ fancy it is the general effeét of people dying in
whal: you may call health.

Q. Bf dying in health, do you mean apoplcxy or
epileply ¥ .-

A. Both 3 or fudden death, upon a perfon that was
the moment before in perfe& health.

Q. Have you ever had an opportunity {}f fe:mg fuch
appearances or effe@s upon fuch fubjects !

A. Handreds of times.

Q. Do you confider yourfelf as called upon by fuch
apprarance:, to impute the death of the fubje@ to
poilon?

A. Certainly not, I fhould rather fufpet it to be an
apoplexy; and I wifh the head had been opened, it
might have remoyed all doubrs,

S 2 You
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- Q. You apprehend all doubts might have been re-
moved ?

A. They would have been removed {till further, be-
caufe, although the bodv was putrid, fo that you could
not tell whether it was a recent inflammarion, yer, at
the fame time, an apoplexy arifes from extravalations
of blood in the brain; that a quantity of blood, I take
it for granted, though the body was putrid, would re-
main there in a coagulum vifible to be feen, and much
more vifible than the effcét any poifon would have had
upon the ftomach and inteftines.

Q. Then I am to collect, that, in your judgment,
from the appearances of the body being black, fwollen,
or diftended, the lips fwelled and retrated, and thofe
appearances which the gentlemen of the faculty have
defcribed, and I dare fay they have all given an accu-
rate defcription, that no inference can be drawn from
thence to fay he died of poifon.

A. Certainly not; it does not give the lealt {ufpi-
cion. '

Crofs-Examination.

Q. Having heard, before to day, that a perfon, ap-
parently in health, had fwallowed a draught which had
produced the fymptums defcribed ;5 Iafk you, whether
any reafonable man can entertain a doubt that that
draught, whatever it was, produced thofe appearances ;

A. I don’t know well what anfwer tc make to that
queftion, ‘

Q. I will therefore afk your opinion 3 having heard
the account given of the health of this young gentle-
man, previous to the taking of the draught that morn-
ing, and the fymptoms that were produced immedi-
ately upon taking that draught; I afk your opinion, as
a man of judgment, whether you do not think that
dravght was the occafion of his death ? _ _

A. With regard to the firft part of the queftion, his
being in health, that explains nothing ; 1 fee heaithy

peopie,
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people, and generally healthy people, die fuddenly, and
therefore I fhall lay no ftrefs upon that.  As to the cir-
cumftances of the draught, I own there are {ulpicions.
Every man is as good a judge as [ am, .

Court, Q. You are to give your opinion upon the
fimple evidence, not taking in all the other evidence,
only fpeak upon the fymproms ¢

(No immediate anfwer given.)

Mr. Howarth then put the following queftion: Up-
on the {ymptoms immediately produced upon the fwal-
lowing of that draught, I afk your judgment and opi-
pion, whether that draught did not occafion his death ?

Mr. Newnham. 1 beg to objeét to that queftion, if
it is put in chat form ; if it is put after the iwallowing
it, I have no objection.

Mr. Howarth. CL Then, after {wallowing it, what
1s your opinion, allowing he had fwallowed ic?

A. I can only fay that is a circumftance in favour of
fuch opinion. '

Court. Q. The {fymptoms as appeared afterwards
are a circumfiltance in favour of an opinion the draught
occafioned his death ?

A. No, my Lord; becaufe the fymptoms afterwards
are thofe of a man dying who was before in perfeét
health. . Of epilepfy, or apoplexy, or a thoufand other
forts of diforders, the fymptoms will give one thole ge-
neral ideas.

Court. Q. The general ideas that we afk you are,
from the fymptoms you have heard defcribed, imme-
diately after he took the draught, followed by his death
very {con after ; whether, upon that part of the cafe,
you are of opipion the draught cccalioned his death?
v A. If 1 was clear the draught he has taken was poi,
fon, or fomething obnoxious, ['fhould fay, moft pro-
bably the fymptoms arofe from that. "Bur, when |
firlt of all don’t know the draught was noxious, and [
can conceive a number of other circumftances can kill,

er
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or produce the fame effect, 1 cannot fpeak pofitively
to It

Q. In the firft place, you remember the circum-
ftances of the violent heavihgs that came on?

A. Yes; all that violent heaving is the effect of the
voluntary action being loft, and nothing being left but
the tnvoluntary.

Mr. Howarth. Q. Then you decline giving any
opinion upon the fubjeét ?

A. I cannot form an opinion upon the fubjeét.

Q. You refufe giving an opinion upon the fubje&,
whether the death of Sir Theodofius Boughton was
occafioned by the draught or not?

A. I cannot. I can conceive, if he had the draught
of poifon, the effets mighc arife from it 3 and I can
conceive it might arife from other caufes. -

Q. If you are acquainted at all with the effe&s or
caufes of diftilled laurel water, give me leave to alk,
whether the {wallowing that as a medicine, would not
have produced the fymptoms defcribed ?

A. T fhould fuppofe they might; 1 can only fay this
from experience, the effect of laurel water upon ani-
mals has not been fo quick as the effects defcribed
in this cafe. I have ¢jected it direly into the blood
of dogs, and they have not died ; 1 have thrown laurel
water into the ftomach of dogs, and it never produced
fo quick an effet with me as defcribed by thole gentles
men.

Q. You think laurel water would have produced
{fymptoms as they have defcribed ?

A. I have killed dogs with laurel water.

- Q. I afk whether you conceive it is poffible laurel
water will not produce fymptoms fuch as have been
defcribed ?

A. I fhould conceive it might.

Q. Will not an apoplexy, or an epilepfy, if you had
feen Sir Theodofius at this time, though he had raken
=~ phyfic at all, have produced fimilar fympmms?c

A. Ger-
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~. A. Certainly.

Court. Q. Either epilepfy or apoplexy ?

A. Either epilepfy or apoplexy. ;

Q. Now I will afk you another queftion, whether it
is not underftood that one part of the famif}r died of an
apoplexy ? |

A. The father died of an apoplexy,

Q. Is nor that a difeale fometimes apt to run in the

famiiy ?
' ﬂ.? There 1s no difeale whatfoever that becomes con-
frirutional, bur what can be given to a child ; there is
no difeafe that is acquired that can be given to a child,
but whatever is conftitutional in the father. The fa-
ther has a power of giving that to the child, by which
means it becomes hereditary.  There is no fuch thing
as hereditary difeafes, but fuch a thing as an hereditary
difpofition. - ] | '

Q. Do you call apoplexy confiitutional ?

A. lcan eafily coneeive there are no difeafes here-
ditary but what are'conftitutional. In the fmall-pox,
as there is a conftitutional difpofition more in fome than
others ; but it requires an immediate caufe to produce
the effect. The venereal difeafe is hereditary for that
reafon.

Coust. Q. Do youy conceive an apoplexy to be con~
ftitutional ?

A. Ican eafily conceive fome conftitutions are more
dilpofed to an apoplexy than others.

Q. Is apoplexy likely to atrack a thin young man,
who had been in the courfe of taking medicines before ?

A. Not fo likely furely as another mans bat I have
an account in my diffe&ions of two young women
dying in an apoplexy.

Q. In fuch an habic of body, particularly attended
with the circumftance of having taken cooling medi-
gines, youn fay it was very unlikely ?

' | A. ]
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A. Idon’t know the effe of medicine fo'well as to
kgnw any that would hinder an apoplexy from taking
effect. ' |

Court. Q. I wifh you would be fo good as to give
me your opinion, in the beft manner you can, one way
or the other, whether, upon the whole you have heard
of the fymptoms defcribed, it is your opinion the death
proceeded from that medicine, or any other caufe ?

A. That queltion is diftrefling. I don’t mean to
equivocate, when I tell the fentiments of my own
rﬁ{i_nd, what I feel at the time ; 1 can give nothing de-
cifive,

0 M JUSTICE BULLER,

Gentlemen,

THE prifoner at the bar, John Donellan, ftands
indi&ed for the wilful murder of Sir Theodofius Ed-
ward Alfley Boughton, which i1s faid to have been ef-
fected by poifon. Before I ftate the evidence, [ will
‘mention a thing that is taken notice of by the prifoner
in his defence, which is, that a great many tales and
‘cruel reports have been circulated in the public prints
ever fince his confinement, tending to prejudice the
‘minds of the people againft him. It fuch has ever ex-
ifted, it has been extremely improper, and it has been
‘highly criminal, for there is nothing that tends more
to ftop the courfe of juftice, than attempting ta preju-
dice mens minds before a caufe comes to be tried.
Whether the fac be true.or. falfe, is what I cannot fay,
for 1 really do not know of my own knowledge ; but,
if it be true, 1 recommend to you to ftrip your minds
from every thing you have heard refpecting this caufe
before you got into that box, and to confider very cooly
and indifferently on the evidence given, before you
pronounce one way or the other; and in the verdict you
‘mdy find, whatever it may be, you will take nothing 1n
your
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you, to ftate to you what are the impreflions that thag .
evidence makes on my mind, and to give you my ob-
fervations ; but at the fame time, previoufly to inform
you, that you are not to attend to any opinion, becaufe
it is mine ; you are to confider the evidence yourlelves,
you are to form your cwn opinion; if you differ from
me on one, or all, or any of the reafons that [ give, it
is your judgment and confideration, and not mine, that
muft decide this cafe. Now there are two queftions for
you to confider; the firft is, that the decealed died of
poifon: with regard to that, you heard in evidence, on
the part of the profecution, a great number of very
able men in the phyfical line, who have given you their
opinions, that they have no doubt but the death was
occalioned by poifon. The firft phyfician that was call-
ed, is Dr. Rattray ; he fays, he has no doubr at all but
that the medicine was the cauife of the death; and in
his opinion, and as the appearances he faw on the body
could not arife from putrefaction, he has taken greac
ains to inform himlelf of the efefts of laurel water ;
e has tried various experiments ; he has told you the
effects of thele experiments; he has mentioned the cir-
cumftance of a biting upon his own tongue, which
likewife affected him in all the experiments that he made
after; and from thente, he {ays, he is fatisfied that what
he found on the tongue, at the time the body was open-
ed, proceeded in fome meafure from the laurel water :
he lays, be never {aw any heaving of the ftomach at-
tend either epileply or apoplexy. Mr. Wilmer fays,
that though from the appearances of the body, he is
not able to form any opinion of the caufe of this, yet
he is now clearly of opinion, that Sir Theodofius Bough-
ton’s death was occafioned by the draft adminiftered by
Lady Boughton ; he was afked a great deal about epi-
leply, and he {ays, that heaving is not a circumitance .
generally attending epilepfies.  Another circumftance
proper for you to attend to, upon the evidence of thefe

WO
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two gentlemen, is, that when they came to Lawford-
hall, neither of them were told that there was the fmall-
elt fufpicion that poifon had been adminiftered to Sir
Theodofius Boughton ; if there had, they both {wear,
in the ftrongelt terms, they would have opened the
body at all events.  Dr. Afhe agrees in opinion with
them, that Sir T, Boughton did die in confequence of
the draught ; and he fays, that he attribures the effects of
it from the fymproms that had been fpoken of, to no-
thing but the poifon that the appearances on the bodies
of animals are fimilar to the appearances mentioned on
this body; and he f:ys, the appearances on this body
were fimilar to thofe fymptoms which appear where an
animal is killed by a vegetable poifon. Dr. Parfons
agrees in the fame opinion, that Sir Theodolius did die
of the poifon ; and he fays, that the {mell is the greateft
characteriftic of the laurel water: he agrees, that the
heavings were to be attributed to the effeéts of the me-
dicine; his words are, *¢ It muft be attributed to the
« effects of the medicine undoubtedly, and that the
¢ Jaurel water will produce all the effcéts that have
¢ been mentioned.” Thefe are the gentlemen of the
faculty who have given their opinions on the part of the

rofecution.  For the prifoner, you have had one gen-
tleman called, who is likewife of the faculty, and a very
able man, and he can hardly fay what his opinion is;
he does not feem to form any opinion at all of the mat-
ter: he at firlt faid, he could not form an opinion, whe-
ther the death was occafioned by the pofon or not, be-
caufe be could conceive it might be afcribed to other
caufes : 1 withed very much to have got another anfwer
from Dr. Hunter, if I could ; what, upon the whole,
was the refult of his attention to this cafe ? what his
prefent opinion was? but, he fays, he can fay nothing
decifive : fo that on this point, if you are determining
on the cafe upon the evidence of the gentlemen who are
fkilled in the faculty only, you have a very politive opi-
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ftairs, Lady Boughton tells you of another converfation
on the partof the prifoner, and if you believe that, it
fhews that what he faid abour the rincing the bottles,
was not an immediate invention but an after thought :
he fays to his wife, your mother bas been pleafed to
take notice of my wathing the bottles out, and he
fays, I do not know what I thould have done, if | had
not thought of faying, that I put the water In it to
put my finger on it to tafte it; and then fhe ftat-
ed it afterwards, as a thought that occurred to h'm
at the time, to fay he had done it in order that
he might tafte it: fhe [wore that he did not tafte
the firft bottle at all. The next thing is, the fervantis
called; why? the prifoner is anxious to know what he
remembers about the time of his going out; he fixes
his going out to feven in the morning, and then the
prifoner aniwers, Will, you are my evidence. Now
jomething had paffed between the time of the prifon-
ei’s leaving the room and Lady Boughton’s leaving the
room, and the time of thefervant being cailed down ;
- and therefore, though this expreffion was extraordinary,
wet 1 do not think it is one of thofe lcading falts of the
cafe which ought to be much relied upon. If Lady
Boughton had entertained fufpicions, and had commu-
nicated it to him, it was natural enough for him to call
on any body who had feen him for the fact he knew;
and then he gave this anfwer, which he might do with-
cut conveying any bad meaning in it. But the next
day, what is his condué with regard to the gentlemen
of the faculty and the letter he received ? Firft of all,
he fpoke of it to Lady Boughton ; he told her, he had
received a letter from Sir William Wheler, defiring the
body might be opened, which he anfwered ; he read
the anfwer to her which he fent: after Dr. Rattray had
been there, fhe objected to the anfwer, but the parti-
cular reafons fhe did not give. Now, fee what thatan-
fwer was; in that letter he tells Sir William Wheler,
that he has the great fatisfaction of receiving his letter,
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as it gives him an opportunity of inftantly oblerving
his advice in all refpects ; he then mentions having fent
for four perfons by name, Dr. Rattray, Dr. Wilmer,
who brought with them another perfon, which made
three, and a Mr. Powell, who came to the meeting 5
fo that, according to this letter, four perfons were pre-
fent, and which by the an{wer he leaves Sir William
Wheler to underftand, had been a meeting purely ia
confequence of a letter Sir William Wheler had feat.
He fays, after receiving your laft letter, I gave it them
to perufe; that was fpeaking, as if it had diredled the
four gentlemen to have proceeded accordingly ; and he
fays, 1 am happy to inform you they truly fatisfied us.
Now, what were the fats on the evidence, which war-
ranted thefe general expreflions ? Dr. Rattray and Mr.
Wilmer had been in the room, they had feen nothing
but the face, they had heard no fufpicion of poifon,
they had never feen the firft letter that Sir William
Wheler had written to the prifoner.  He does not fay
fo in this letter, but fo couched, it will be for you to
confider, whether by this letter he did not mean 1o mif-
dead Sir William Wheler, and intend it fhould have
that effect which Sir William Wheler fwears it had oa
his mind ; thac is, that he had underftoed the body had
been infpected, and had been opened by the phyficians.
The firft letter he anfwers, mentions Sir William Whe-
ler having exprefsly intimated and {poken of his fufpi-

cions from the manner in which Sir Theodofias Bouwgh-
ton got his death, wherein he ftrongly prefles the open-
ing of the body, where he does it not only in the frft
part of his letter, but he prefles it in different parts,
telling it about the country, that Sir Theodofius Bough-
ton had been killed by medicine or peifon, and there-
fore writes again, begging it might be opened. This
lecter the priloner had, but this letter was not produ-
ced. For what purpofe was it that this letter was fe-
creted?  If iv was for the purpofe of preventing the

body
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bady being opened, and their forming a fair and full
judgment in which way Sir Theodofius Boughten had
got his death, it is then a very ftrong circumftance in
the cafe; and you obferve, that both thefe witneffes
fwear, that if they had any intimation of poifon, which
if they had feen that letter they muft have had, they
never would have gone away without opening the bo-
dy ; fo that the body was not opened at this time by
means of that letter being kept back; but yet it is pof-
fible, that the prifoner might fuppofe Sir William W he-
ler’s ideas were fufficiently communicated to the phyfi-
cians and {urgeons by rhe lait letter, and therefore un-
neceffary to (hew the firft. If you think that upon the
letter, that there is no weight in keeping back the firft,
and that he did not do it with a view to {upprefs the
fufpicions that had been entertained, then this fat
ought to have no weight.  The next fact {poken to is
the prifoner’s behaviour about the cloaths ; he directed
they fhould be removed ; he ordered them to be taken
out of the room before any body comes; he takes up
the ftockings himiclf, and he fays they are wer; was
that true ? Lady Boughton fwore pofitively that fhe ex-
amined the ftockings, that they were not wet at all,
and there was no appearance of their having been wet.
Another fact proved in evidence, is the converfations
that the prifoner has held about this unfortunate young
man, before the time that his death happened. Mr.
Newfam fays, he had reprefented him to him as a per-
fon in a very bad {tate of health, that his blood was a
mefs of mercury and corruption. s it truth, that he
ever took one grain of mercury in his life? Two wit-
nefles have been called that attended him, Mr. Powell
and Mr. Kerr; neither of them fay a fyllable about
any mercury having been given him. He tells a ftory

about a violent {welling of the groin, which they -

wanted to bring to a head, and for that reafon he

had attempted and endeavoured to prevail on the de-

ceafed

:
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ceafed to take the medicines; that the diforder was
then at the crifis, Was it true? Mr. Powell does
not agree in it. Hle fays it was very trifling ; hardly
any thing. Mr. Kerr does not agree. He fays it
was very trifling. In this alfo he is contradifted by
Mr. Powell, Then he told Newfam, the young
man’s breath was fo offenfive, they could hardly bear
it. Of that there is no evidence. Then, fublequent
to the time when Dr. Rattray was there, vpon the
day after, Sir William Wheler fends a letter, defiring
the body might be opened. What is the prifoner’s
anfwer? That Dr. Rattray and Mr. Wilmer had de-
elined it, and faid that it would not be fair to have it
opened, after thefe gentlemen had declined it.  This
~ he faid to Mr. Bucknill ; after gentlemen fo eminens
in the profeffion had declined it, that it would not
be fair in him to permit it. Whart, in a cafe where
fulpicion of poifon had been mentioned by a mere
friend and relation of the family, Sir William Wheler ;
if a man was to be found that would open the body,
was 1t not a thing to be defired by every body ? How-
ever, that is refuled on the morning after, to Mr:
~ Bucknill. After this, Mr. Snow came to the houfe :
‘What pafled between the prifoner and Snow we have
not heard; butr, when Mr. Bucknill comes back a-
gain, he alks the prifoner, Wheéther Mr. Snow was
gone! The prifoner told him, Yes; he had been
there, and had given orders what to do, and that
they were proceeding accordingly. What were the
orders ?  'Were they any thing more than that the body
fhould be buried ?  That is what the prifoner fags in
his defence : But Mr. Snow was not called. You have
had no evidence of what paficd between the prifoner
and Snow. He has told you, in his defence, Mr. Snow
advifed the immediate burial of the body: That is
mot proved. If that was all the advice thac could be
given, why, in fuch a firvation, fhould the prifoner

u chufs
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chufe to content himfelf with fuch a general anfwer to
Bucknell, That Snow had given the orders whar to
do, and they were proceeding accordingly, They
then fhew you, that the prifoner is a ‘man who, fora
Jorig time before this, had been praifing with a il
He had a {till of his own in the houfe, which he kept in
a room that belonged to himfelf; it is called his
room; and in which it further feems he had been
diftiliing different things: Thar is a circumftance to be
confidered ; but it is a circumftance which, alone,
would not deferve much weight, for a man may have
fuch a thing for an honelt purpofe ; and he did make
ufe of it, and fometimes for an honeft purpofe ; for
he ufed it for dittilling lavender-water, and in diftilling
rofes : But however, this faét appears, that he had it in
his pofieflion long before the time when Sir Theedo-
fius Boughton died ; that he produced it himfelf within
two or three days after Sir Theodofius’s death ; that it
was then full of lime, and it was wet: The prifoner
then thought it neceflary to make an excufe for the
ftate in which it was, and he tells the gardener that
he had ufed the lime to kill fleas. = That is the excufe
he made about the ftill. Now it is rather an extraordi-
nary thing, that it thould be thought neceffary by him
at that tuime to make an excufe about the ftill, when
no queftion was alked about it. Then, he fays, he

ufled the lime to kill the fleas. What other converfa-

tion is there between the prifoner and the gardener in
the morning of that day ? The prifoner came to the
gardener, and tells him, You fhall work at your cafe
now; I wanted tq be mafter before, but now I am

got malter, and I fhall be mafter. Upon the fame

morning, he goes to the gardener, and tells him that
he muft get fome pigeons ; that he muft have them at
ten o’clock for Sir Theodofius ; for, poor man, he is
vety ill of that nafty diforder: This muft have been
after he was up in the room, and ordered the pigeons

o
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to be killed and got ready by ten in the morning.——
( Here Mr. Fuftice Buller was interrnpted by Mr, Newnbam,
wha told bim that the pigeons were meant to be put to bis
feet.) — Mr. Juftice Bulier. 1 am very glad the coun-
fel has told me what occurred to him; for, whatever
circumftance I miftake, I would wifh to be fet right in.
They fuppofe the pigeons were meant to be put to his
feet, which is a common praétice, and a circumf{tance
I dare fay all of you muft have heard of ; ifa man isin
extreme pain or danger, they put pigeons to his feet, If
that was {fo, how comes it not to be mentioned ? Not
a word is mentioned to Lady Boughton about that, or
any thing that was like to be a relief to Sir Theodo-
fius, by the prifoner. The next thing is the circum-
ftance of the prifoner’s rincing out the bottle. The
Juryman {wore, that the prifoner pulled Lady Boughton
by the fleeve before the Coroner, when fhe mentioned
that circumftance. Was that proper, in a cafe where
all poflible enquiry fhould be made? But, when this
circumftance is mentioned by her before the Coroner,
he pulls her by the fleeve. - He tells his wife, after-
wards, that fhe had given this evidence unneceffarily ;
that fhe was not obliged to anfwer any queftion that
was not put to her, and that the queftion about rinc-
ing the bottles was not afked. Did the prifoner mean
that the fhould fupprefs the rruth? Did he mean that
the fhould endeavour to avoid the difcovery as much
as fhe could, by barely fupprefiing a circumftance in
which there was truth? If he were innocent, how
could the truth affet him? Burt, at that time, the
circumftance of rincing the bottle appeared even to
him to be fo decifive, that he {topped her in the inftant.
He biamed her afterwards for having done it. Gen-
tlemen, thefe are very ftrong falts, to fhew what was
pafling in the prifoner’s own mind, and to fhew what
he was confcious of at that time. Befides the evidence
which was given by one of the witnefles, of the con-
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he did prevent it, it will be for you to enquire, with
what view that could be done? Could it be done with
any view but to fecret the truth? If therefore you
are fatisfied, on the whole, that the deceafed was poifon-
ed, the next queftion is, By whom that poifon was
prepared 2 You have been truly told by the Counfel,
on the pa-t of the profecution, that 1tis perfectly imma-
terial what was the kind of poifon ufed: The Indict-
ment {tates arfenic. It is not neceflary, in point of law,
they fhould prove any arfenic at all was adminiftered
to the deceafed. But if you are fatisfied that he was
deftroyed by poifon, and that the prifoner had a hand
in mixing up that poifon, and put it in the place of
medicine, for the purpofe of its being given to Sir
Theodofius Boughton, and it afterwards was given to
him, and was the caufe of his death, that is full evi-
dence of the offence which is eharged againft him.
Now, with regard to his being the perfon, it muft de-
pend on the evidence that has been ftated before, which
is produced againft him ; every circumftance that I
have been fpeaking of is a degree of proof. And that
circumftance to which I can find no anfwer what-
ever is given; that is, rincing out the bottle; car-
ries very ftrong marks of the knowledge in himfelf,
there was fomething in it which ought never to be dif-
covered. The anfwer he gives to that is, he was not
to gain any thing by Sir Theodofius’s death; that his
affairs were fofettled, and fo arranged, upon his mar-
riage, that he never was to get any thing by Sir The-
odofius’s death s and, therefore, it was no motive
to commit {uch a crime. Befides that, he had, in re-
eated 1nftances, interpofed to fave this young man
Frnm fcrapes he had got into. Inone inftance it is true,
in the other it is very flight; becaufe it is faid, he came
there: And fo far you muft take it for the credit of the
prifoner, he did go for the purpofe of mediating and
preventing mifchief : But the evidence fays, there was
ng ogcalion 3 for the witnefs faid he underftood it was
fettled
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fertled before the prifoner came. But fo far it is ma-
terial, as the witnels underftood he went from the feat
where Lady Boughton lived, in order to meet Sir The-
odofivg, and to prevent any milchief that might enfue,
Another faét of that fort was proved by Lady Bough-
ton, .at Bath. She underftood he interfered, and put
an end to a difpute which Sir Theodofius had with fome
other perfon. Now thefe are facts not to be forgotten.
You are to take them into your confideration, and give
them all the weight you think in juftice they deflerve s
but you will obferve, thefe quarrels are at a diftance.
Que 1s two years back, in 1779. Inthe year 1778, he
prevents the mifchief that might arife in confequence
of quarrels between the deceafed SirT heodofius andother .
perfons.  That is a different period of time from that
which we are talking of; but that is for your judge-
ment. You hear, on the other hand, he reprefented
this young man in a dangerous ftate of health, and not
likely to live long ; and the reprefentation is at a time
which is very recent, and a fhort time before the death
of Sir Theodofins. The clergyman {peaks of a tranf-
aflion two or three days before his death. He fpeaks
of converfations. Converfations are ftrong things.
On ihe whole of the evidence, you will fay, whe-
ther you think they were true or not. If they were
ner, then they prove nothing as to this cafe. Buc
vou muft take the whole of the circemftances into
vour confideration ; It is for you to decide on
1his cafes in doing which you are to aét according to
the belt of your judgment and your conicience, to find
out the truth of the cafes; and as you find that truth, fo
you will pronounce your verdict.

The Jury retired fora few minutes ; and, when they
rerurned, brought in the prifoner, GUIL T Y.

The Clerk of the Arraigns then addreflfed the Pri-’
foner. — Joha Donellan, youa ftand convifted of wilful

murther : What have you to fay, why the Court fhould
- not



t e )
not pronounce fentence of death againft you according to
law? The Prifoner then anfwered, Not guilty, my Lord.

After proclamation for filence, the Judge proceeded
to pafs fentence, in the following words :

Johno Donellan, the offence of which you now {tand
convicted, next to thofe which immediately affelt the
{tate, the government, and the conftitution of this coun-
tfy, is of the blackeft dye that any man can commit.
For, of all felonies murder is the moft herrible, and of
21l murders, poifon 1s the moft deteftable. Potloning
is a fecret aét, againft which there are no means of pre-
ferving or defending a man’s life ; and fo far as there
can be different degrees in crimes of the fame nature,
your’s furpafles all that has ever gone before it.  The
manner and the place in which this dark deed was
tranfadted, and the perfon vpon whom it was com-

mitted, muft enhance your guilt. It was committed
- under the mafk of friendfhip, and by the greateft im-
poflition, on an unfortunate mother, and a ftill more
wnfortunate uniufpefting young man. It was committed
in a place where {ufpicion, at the inftant, muft have
{lept ; where you had accefs, as a bofom-friend and
brother, where you faw the rifing reprefentative of an
ancient family prefide in afluence, but where your
ambition proudly, but falfely, taught you to imagine
that you might live in fplendour and happinels, it he
whom you thought your only obftacle were removed.
Probably the greatnefs of his fortune caufed the great-
nefs of your offence.  And 1 am fully fatisfied, on the
evidence given againft you, that avarice was your mo-
tive, and hypocrify ferved you with the means. That
the deed was done by you, which not only haftened
him, but which very foon removed him to an untime-
ly grave, has been fully proved to the farisfaction
of myfelf and the Jury; and { think it impofiible to
find a perfon of the meaneft capacity amongit the nu-
merous audience who ftand areund you, thar can doubt

about
























